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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

M B R E

(In HK$'000) (LB F o B El7) 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
OPERATING RESULTS BEMNR
Revenue Wz 119,221 174,831 191,589 124,642 317,515
Profit for the year attributable to A2 RH#AE AE(L
owners of the Company F A4 7 46,227 47,738 254,624 163,603 225,867
Earnings per share — Basic TG M — EAR
HK cents il 1.7 1.8 9.5 6.1 8.4
FINANCIAL POSITION BRI
Total assets BEHE 3,468,281 3,238,239 2,903,628 2,713,372 2,640,888
Net assets BEFE 2,655,793 2,633,091 2,642,866 2,491,167 2,370,912
Total liabilities BEEE 812,488 605,148 260,762 222,205 269,976
SEGMENT INFORMATION 22 E R
- SEGMENT REVENUE - DEKE
Broking e 11,379 9,564 8,136 11,307 9,359
Financing 8% 77,772 94,614 73,146 77,307 64,539
Corporate finance TEBE 1,076 3,714 1,276 16 15,054
Assets management EEER 1,621 2,075 2,242 2,565 4,293
Properties investment FEiERE 27,075 64,569 106,496 25,912 26,764
Precious metal trading E¢BET 298 295 293 7,535 197,506
Investment holding BRI - - - - -
-~ SEGMENT RESULTS - DHEEE
Broking S 243 76 (1,609) 1,162 (328)
Financing 8% 48,772 44,561 13,490 33,158 52,834
Corporate finance TEBE 1,043 3,669 1,224 7 11,421
Assets management BEEEE 83 383 634 1,552 3,214
Properties investment B ERE 23,847 58,656 100,347 20,562 21,896
Precious metal trading E¢BEE (611) (640) (686) (703) (930)

Investment holding

REZK

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &t H 4 WA A)



Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Upbest Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present to
you the results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) for the year ended 31t March, 2021.

Financial and Business Review

During the financial year 2021, the Group recorded a profit of
approximately HK$46.2 million, which was similar to the profit
of approximately HK$46.4 million as recorded in the preceding
year. Although revenue has been reduced by approximately 31.8%
during the year, the decrease in expected credit loss of financial assets
and the income recognised from the share of results of an associate
diminish such gap from last year.

The financing segment of our Group has recorded a revenue and
segment results during the year, accounted for approximately HK$77.8
million and approximately HK$48.8 million respectively. Saved as the
downturn of economy in Hong Kong, the Group has implemented more
prudent approach to evaluate our clients’ loan recoverability, which
indirectly led to a substantial drop in impairment loss recognised during
the year when compared with the prior year.

Market Review

This year, Hong Kong as well as the rest of world are gradually
recovering from the pandemic recession, even though for many
countries the widespread is yet to be controlled due to the limited
number of vaccine available for their citizens. Only those small number
of countries with high vaccination rate the quarantine requirements
could be eased during that period.

Although Hong Kong has a low infection rate compared with other
jurisdictions, its effect on the economy is still unprecedented. High
unemployment, low wage growth and uncertainty with the future
have reduced private consumption as well as investment from
investors. Nevertheless, the Hong Kong property market has proved
resilient amid the COVID-19 pandemic amidst economic downturn.
Although property valuation in Hong Kong slightly declined during the
social protest movement in the second half of 2019, the price has been
stabilized after then.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
x F & &

According to the statistics of Census and Statistics Department
published in first quarter of 2021, Hong Kong economy expanded by
7.8% in year-on-year basis following six consecutive quarters of decline.
The growth indicates a gradual recovery from COVID-19 pandemic
against a combination of continuously weak domestic consumer
demand and a strong rebound in outbound shipments activities. Also,
private consumption spending, which represented the largest
component of GDP in the past, only recorded an increase of just 1.6%
year on year. This is mainly related to the social-distancing measures as
different coronavirus-related restrictions were in place since late 2020
and relaxed only in April, which hindered private spending in Hong
Kong.

Even though Hong Kong has been ahead of the curve in controlling the
COVID-19 pandemic, the impact on the local and global economy due
to lockdown measures still impeded the recovery of economic activities,
especially the service industries in Hong Kong.

The economic recession as well as uncertain global economic outlook
had greatly affected investors’ appetite and market performance. The
Hang Seng index (“HSI") was moving within the range from the point
of 22,930 to 31,084 in the financial year under review. As at the year
ended 31t March, 2021, the HSI was at the point of 28,577, which
represented an increase of 25.8% comparing with that on 1%t April,
2020. For the period from April 2020 to March 2021, the total turnover
value amounted to approximately HK$38,185.8 million, an approximately
67.3% increase compared with approximately HK$22,824.4 million for
the same period last year.

Broking

The broking segment has contributed income to our Group during the
year mainly due to the active IPO market in early 2021. Such activities
have brought with other business opportunities to our Group such as
brokerage services subsequent to the subscription of new shares.

Save as the above, the revenue of broking segment was approximately
HK$11.4 million, which increased by approximately HK$1.8 million
comparing with the preceding year of approximately HK$9.6 million,
an approximately 18.8% increase during the year and segment results
recorded a profit of approximately HK$243,000 during the year, as
compared with the profit of approximately HK$76,000 recorded last
year.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &t H 4 WA A)
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Financing

The revenue of the financing segment was approximately HK$77.8
million, represented a decrease of approximately HK$16.8 million or
17.8% compared with the preceding year and the segment results
during the year amounted to HK$48.8 million which was approximately
9.4% higher than the previous year.

Saved as our stricter approach in evaluating the loan recoverability of
our clients, we maintained a cautious attitude in extending loans to our
current clients as well as offering attractive money lending package to
our new customers.

Corporate Finance and Asset Management

During the financial year 2021, the corporate finance segment
contributed revenue and segment results for approximately HK$1.0
million and approximately HK$1.0 million.

For the asset management segment, the revenue and results in the
current year were approximately HK$1.6 million and HK$83,000
respectively, which were aligned with the market environment.

Precious Metal Trading
During the current financial year, the segment loss was approximately
HK$0.6 million which was similar to the preceding financial year.

Properties Investment

Our shopping mall in Macau generated a stable income to our Group
despite economic downturn. During the period, our rental capacity rate
of shopping mall as well as the car parks maintained the similar rate
compared with the previous years. Our Directors are of the view that our
shopping mall provided a comprehensive range of dining, shopping,
lifestyle and leisure facilities for citizens living in Macau, which attracted
a stable income even during lockdown.

During the current financial year, the properties investment segment
recorded a revenue of approximately HK$27.1 million, which was
reduced by approximately HK$37.5 million. Such drop was mainly due
to the decrease of income from provision of properties management
services during the year. The segment results was approximately
HK$23.8 million which represented a decrease by approximately
HK$34.9 million compared with the preceding year's approximately
HK$58.7 million.

As at 31%t March, 2021, the fair value of our investment properties
accounted for approximately HK$1,601.1 million, with the net fair value
decrease of approximately HK$40.9 million recorded during the year.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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Administration Performance

The administrative and other operating expenses for the current
financial year amounted to approximately HK$26.3 million, which
represented a decrease of HK$0.8 million comparing with last year. The
administrative expenses to revenue ratio of approximately 22.1% was
higher than that in 2020 with approximately 15.5%.

Prospects

We expect the economic ties between the territory and the mainland
in the long run would be further enhanced through Closer Economic
Partnership Arrangement, the Shanghai Connect and Shenzhen Connect
and the Chinese government’s Greater Bay Area initiative. All these rely
on synergies through the integration of municipal economies in the Pearl
River Delta.

Facing such complicated investment environment, our Group will
continue to work on prudence amid challenges and maintain a cautious
approach to regularly review and adjust our business strategies in
due occasion. We strive to look for other investment opportunities to
contribute a long term economic benefit to our shareholders.

Appreciation

The Board would like to thank the management of the Group and all
staff for their hard work and dedication, as well as shareholders of the
Company, the Group’s business partners and associates, bankers and
auditors for their supports to the Group.

On behalf of the Board

IP Man Tin, David
Chairman and
Non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 25" June, 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31% March, 2021, the Group had bank balance and cash of
approximately HK$816.2 million (2020: HK$480.2 million) of which
approximately HK$10.0 million (2020: HK$10.0 million) were pledged
to bank for facilities granted to the Group. The Company has given
guarantees to the extent of HK$452.0 million (2020: HK$452.0 million)
to secure the facilities granted to subsidiaries. As at 31t March, 2021
the Group had available aggregate banking facilities of approximately
HK$468.0 million (2020: HK$468.0 million) of which HK$209.4 million
(2020: HK$186.8 million) was not utilised.

As at 31t March, 2021, the Group’s borrowings decreased to
approximately HK$263.4 million from approximately HK$283.7 million as
at 315t March, 2020.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31t March, 2021, the amount of total borrowings was
approximately HK$263.4 million (2020: HK$283.7 million). The gearing
being equal to approximately 9.9% (2020: 10.8%) of the net assets of
approximately HK$2,655.8 million (2020: HK$2,633.1 million).

Capital Structure
There was no significant change in the Group’s capital structure for the
year ended 31t March, 2021.

As at 31t March, 2021, the total equity attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to approximately HK$2,657.0 million (2020:
HK$2,634.3 million). The Group’s consolidated net assets per share as
at the reporting date was HK$0.99 (2020: HK$0.99).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group operates in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC and the majority
of transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), United
State dollars ("US$") and Macau Pataca. Foreign exchange risk arises
from commercial transactions, recognized assets and liabilities, which
are denominated in a currency which is not the functional currency of
the Group and the Company.

During the year, the Group mainly uses Hong Kong dollars,
Macau Pataca and United States dollars to carry out its business
transactions. The Board considers the foreign currency exposure is
insignificant.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

g 2 BE A W R 2 W

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31t March, 2021, the Group has pledged certain of its investment
properties with fair value of approximately HK$1,394.1 million (2020:
HK$1,434.0 million) to a bank to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31% March, 2021, the Group has provided guarantee to certain
financial institutions as follow:

SEEEWRT

R-ZFE-—FZA=+—HB AEELED
1,394 1B 8B T (ZE_TF : 143408 8%
T)METREMECKER  UBBRTAE
Bz —fRIBTRE -

HAEE
RZFB-_—5=ZA=1+—R AEECRHERF
THBEBNOT

2021 2020

(In HK$'000) (BB TF T BEN) —E-—-F —E-TF
The guarantees given by the Company and its KRR REMNBRRIABLE=H

subsidiaries to financial institutions in respect BTIEREERIIREEE

of facilities to independent third parties 3,000 3,000
The guarantees given by the Company to ARRBEMB ARG T SEE

financial institutions in respect of facilities ERUBREEE

granted to subsidiaries 452,000 452,000

At the end of the reporting period, the directors do not consider it is
probable that a claim will be made against the Group under any of the
guarantees.

Of the above guarantees, the amount utilised by the subsidiaries at 31%

March, 2021 is HK$258.6 million (2020: HK$281.2).

The Company has not recognised any deferred income in respect of
these guarantees as its fair value cannot be reliably measured and its
transaction price was HK$Nil (2020: HK$NIil).

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &£ H4 WA )
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31t March, 2021, the Group had 40 staff including those staff
of Macau (2020: 39). For the year ended 31t March, 2021, the staff
costs of the Group amounted to approximately HK$16.6 million (2020:
HK$15.6 million), 13.9% and 8.9% of the Group’s revenue in financial
year 2021 and 2020 respectively.

PROPOSED DIVIDEND

Subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company at the
AGM, the Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK1.0 cent per ordinary share (2020: HK1.0 cent per ordinary share)
in respect of the year ended 31 March, 2021 to all shareholders of
the Company whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on Friday, 10" September, 2021. If approved, the payment
of the final dividend will be made on or about Friday, 24" September,
2021.

The Group continues to maintain and upgrade the capabilities of its
workforce by providing them with adequate and regular training in order
to enhance their technical skills and update their industry knowledge
with regards to laws and regulations.

The Group remunerates its employees mainly based on industry
practices, market remuneration and individual’'s performance and
experience. On top of regular remuneration, discretionary bonus may be
granted to eligible staff by reference to the Group’s performance as well
as individual's performance.

SHARE OPTION
The Company does not a have share option scheme.

CREDIT CONTROL

The Group has been practicing tight credit control policy. A credit
committee composed of two executive Directors and other members
is responsible for overseeing the granting of credit facilities. Daily
operation of money lending will be guided by the stringent procedures
as prescribed by the internal control manual.

COMPLIANCE AND RISK STEERING COMMITTEE AND
STRATEGY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Group has established a Compliance and Risk Steering Committee
and a Strategy Management Committee which aims to maintain a good
corporate governance environment for the Group. The Board believed
that this will help to enhance the Group’s expanding process in the
future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

g 2 BE A W R 2 W

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company (the "AGM”) will be
convened and held on Friday, 27" August, 2021. Notice of the AGM
will be published on the websites of the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and sent to the
shareholders of the Company together with the Company’s 2021 Annual
Report in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR THE AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
23 August, 2021 to Friday, 27" August, 2021, both days inclusive,
during which period no share transfers can be registered. In order to be
eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited, at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration no
later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 20" August, 2021.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR FINAL DIVIDEND
The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 8" September, 2021 to Friday, 10" September, 2021,
both dates inclusive, during which period no share transfers can
be registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all
transfers, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Standard Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 7
September, 2021.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &£ H4 WA )
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Non-Executive Director and Chairman

Mr. IP Man Tin, David (“Mr. Ip”), aged 75, is the chairman and
non-executive Director of the Company. He holds a Bachelor of Arts
Degree and Master’'s Degree in Public Administration. Mr. Ip is a
Chartered Marketer and a Certified Management Consultant trained in
ISO20700:2017. He has more than 25 years of public administration
and more than 15 years of public company management experience
in Hong Kong and Britain. He has extensive consultancy experience
across industry sectors. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ip does not
hold directorship in any other listed public companies in Hong Kong or
overseas during the past three years and he does not hold any other
position with the Company and other members of the Group.

Non-Executive Director

Dr. SZE Ping Fat (“Dr. Sze"), aged 63, is a non-executive Director of
the Company. Dr. Sze is an Australian legal practitioner having obtained
the Doctorate in Juridical Science from Deakin Law School in Melbourne
as well as Master’s degrees in law from Trinity College Dublin, the
University of Leuven and the University of Sydney. He was appointed a
Justice of the Peace in and for New South Wales in 1996 and elected a
Member of the National Institute of Accountants (with a Master’s degree
in Professional Accounting from the University of Southern Queensland)
in 1997, a Visiting Fellow of Clare Hall in the University of Cambridge
in 2002, a Fellow of the Malaysian Institute of Arbitrators in 2003, a
Member of the Society of Trust and Estate Practitioners and a Fellow
of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in 2008, a Full Fellow of the
Society for Advanced Legal Studies in the University of London in 2009,
a Special Member of the International Association of Prosecutors (The
United Nations) in 2012 and a Member of the Magistrates’ Association
of Great Britain in 2015.

Dr. Sze specializes in criminal and commercial matters. Since 2007,
he has been a Visiting Professor of the IMO International Maritime Law
Institute (The United Nations). He has authored a treatise on carrier’s
liability, several monographs for The International Encyclopedia of
Laws, and more than 60 articles in the areas of public law, business
law and international trade law. He has been commissioned by the
University of Oxford to produce a biography of the late Sir Denys
Roberts, a former Chief Justice of Hong Kong. In 2005 and 2008, he
served as a PhD thesis examiner at Macquarie Law School in Sydney.
Save as disclosed above, Dr. Sze does not hold directorship in any
other listed public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past
three years and he does not hold any other position with the Company
and other members of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Executive Directors

Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie (“Ms. Cheng”), aged 42, is an executive
Director, Chief Executive Officer, member of the Remuneration
Committee and member of the Nomination Committee of the Company.
She is responsible for overseeing the daily operations of the Company.
Ms. Cheng received her bachelor's degree in Business Administration
(Accounting and Finance) from the University of Hong Kong and is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Prior to
joining the Company, she had served with an international audit firm.
Save as disclosed above, Ms. Cheng does not hold directorship in
any listed public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past
three years. Ms. Cheng is the sister of Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew,
an executive Director of the Company. She also holds directorships in
various subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew (“Mr. Cheng”), aged 48, is an executive
Director of the Company. He obtained his bachelor's degree from the
California State University, USA. He has over 21 years’ experience
in securities, corporate finance and direct investment. He is also an
executive director of UBA Investments Limited (Stock Code: 0768).
Save as disclosed above, Mr. Cheng does not hold directorship in any
listed public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past
three years. He also holds directorships in various subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Cheng is the brother of Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie, an
executive Director of the Company.

Mr. MOK Kwai Hang (“Mr. Mok”), aged 57, is an executive Director
of the Company. Mr. Mok is responsible for overseeing the daily
operation of the Company’s property investment segment. Mr. Mok
received his Bachelor’s Degree in Quantity Surveying from Hong Kong
Polytechnic (currently the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) and is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors, the Royal Institution
of Chartered Surveyors and the Chartered Institute of Architectural
Technologists. Prior to joining the Company, he had served with Hip
Hing Construction Company Limited as Deputy General Manager
(Commercial) involved in various projects in Hong Kong and Macau
and as associate director in Widnell Limited involved in building and
infrastructure projects in Hong Kong. Saved as disclosed above,
Mr. Mok has not held any other directorships in other Hong Kong or
overseas listed public companies in the last three years. He also holds
directorships in various subsidiaries of the Company.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &t H 4 WA A)
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan (“Mr. Chan”), aged 54, is an independent
non-executive Director, chairman of the Audit Committee, member of the
Remuneration Committee and member of the Nomination Committee of
the Company.

Mr. Chan is also an independent non-executive director and chairman of
the audit committee of China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited
(a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, Stock code:1209)
and UBA Investments Limited (a company listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange, Stock code: 0768). Mr. Chan is currently the managing
director of Chinalink Express Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Kwoon Chung Bus Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, Stock code: 306), a role he has
assumed since 2003.

Mr. Chan is a standing member and convenor of Hong Kong members
of the Political Consultative Conference of Yunfu City, Guangdong since
2011, a standing member of the Guangdong’s Association for Promotion
of Cooperation between Guangdong, Hong Kong & Macao since 2009,
a member of the China Overseas Friendship Association since 2019,
a member of Friends of Hong Kong Association 2019, a joint convenor
of Hong Kong Coalition since 2020 and the secretary general of the
China Hong Kong and Macao Boundary Crossing Bus Association since
2004. Previously, Mr. Chan was appointed as a member of the Board of
Review (Inland Revenue Ordinance) of the HKSAR from 2009 to 2011.

Mr. Chan graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known
as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in 1989 with a professional
diploma in Business Studies (Banking) and graduated from Monash
University in Australia with master degrees in Practising Accounting and
Business Law, in 2000 and 2006 respectively.

He is a member and fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since 2002 and 2014, respectively; a member and
fellow of CPA Australia since 2001 and 2014. respectively, the certified
membership of the Institute of Certified Management Accountants
(Australia) since 2003, a fellow of The Chartered Governance Institute
since 2001 (and has subsequently received the designations of
“Chartered Secretary” and “Chartered Governance Professional” in
2018), a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
since 2001, a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors since
2002, an ordinary member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment
Institute since 2015, a member of Chartered Institute of Logistics and
Transport in Hong Kong since 2000. Mr. Chan is also a member of the
Chartered Bankers Institute, the United Kingdom since 2014. with a
designation of “Chartered Banker” and a “Certified Banker” of the Hong
Kong Institute of Bankers, since 2003 and 2018 respectively.
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Mr. POON Kai Tik (“Mr. Poon”), aged 68, is an independent
non-executive Director, member of the Audit Committee, Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and Chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Poon graduated from the University
of Hong Kong with a Bachelor Degree in Arts and a Master's Degree
in Business Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.
Having more than 40 years of working experience, Mr. Poon is well
respected across industries, ranging from advertising, marketing
to public relations. He previously served as Head of Corporate
Communications of the Hospital Authority, assistant director of
Corporate and Community Relations of the Housing Authority and
director of Government and Community Engagement of the Link Real
Estate Investment Trust (Stock code: 0823). Save as disclosed above,
Mr. Poon does not hold directorship in any listed public companies in
Hong Kong or overseas during the past three years and he does not
hold any other position with the Company and other members of the
Group.

Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan (“Mr. Hui"), aged 42, is an independent
non-executive Director, member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Hui holds
Master degree in Practising Accounting, Master degree in Applied
Finance and a Bachelor degree in Business (Banking & Finance)
from Monash University, Australia. He is also a member of CPA
Australia. Mr. Hui has over 15 years of working experience in auditing,
accounting, financial management and corporate finance. He is
currently an independent non-executive director of Prime Intelligence
Solutions Group Limited (Stock Code: 8379) and Elegance Optical
International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 907). He was also a
non-executive director of Huge China Holdings Limited (now known as
Cocoon Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 428) during the period from
March to June 2018. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Hui does not hold
directorship in any listed public companies in Hong Kong or overseas
during the past three years and he does not hold any other position with
the Company and other members of the Group.

Company Secretary

Mr. YUEN Shing Him (“Mr. Yuen”), aged 35, is the company secretary
and the authorised representative of the Company. Mr. Yuen obtained a
Bachelor Degree of Business Administration (Honours) in Accountancy
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has over 10
years of experience in accounting, auditing and corporate finance.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &t H 4 WA A)
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 315 March, 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in securities broking, futures
broking, securities margin financing, money lending, corporate finance
advisory, assets management, precious metal trading and properties
investment.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and the prospect of the Company and a
discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position
are provided in the section “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” from pages 5 to 8 and pages 9 to 12 of this
annual report respectively. These discussion form part of this director’s
report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Company can be found throughout this annual report particularly in note
5 and note 7 to the consolidated financial statements. Environmental
policies and performance are discussed in the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” from pages 46 to 64 of this annual report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment information by principal businesses and
geographical locations are set out in note 8(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATE

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries and associate at 31% March,
2021 are set out in note 35 and note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

RESULTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31t March, 2021 are set out
in the consolidated income statement on page 72.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK1.0 cent per ordinary share in respect of the year to the
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 10" September, 2021.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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SHARE CAPITAL &N
Details of movements in share capital of the Company are set out in  BEKRARRANz BEEEH NG E T BHREN
note 29 to the consolidated financial statements. 5129 o
FINANCIAL SUMMARY THEE
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group AT AXREERBLERAENBES 2 XEREE
for the last five financial years is set out below. This summary does not HEEEZHE - KBV IELEREAVHHER
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements. ZEBD o
RESULTS £
During the year ended 31t March,
BE=ZA=1T-HLEFE
(In HK$'000) (BB T BE) 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Revenue g 119,221 174,831 191,589 124,642 317,515
Profit before taxation B 358 Al g A 57,349 62,273 290,588 165,504 234,084
Income tax expenses e R X (11,161) (15,872) (28,039) (1,921) (8,234)
Profit for the year attributable RERAQT
to owners of the Company wBE AR

F AR T 46,227 47,738 254,624 163,603 225,867

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHAME
As at 31t March,
R=A=+—H

(In HK$'000) (LB FrBEN) 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Total assets BERE 3,468,281 3,238,239 2,903,628 2,713,372 2,640,888
Total liabilities BERE (812,488) (605,148) (260,762) (222,205)  (269,976)
Net assets BEFE 2,655,793 2,633,091 2,642,866 2,491,167 2,370,912
RESERVES i

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
note 33 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &t H 4 WA A)
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the share
premium, contributed surplus, retained profits and proposed dividend
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The share premium
of the Company is available for paying dividend to shareholders subject
to the provisions of its Memorandum and Articles of Association and
provided that immediately following the distribution of dividend the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business. In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association,
dividends can be distributed out of the share premium, contributed
surplus, retained profits and proposed dividend of the Company which
in aggregate amounted to approximately HK$343.6 million as at 31%
March, 2021 (2020: HK$351.2 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties were revalued at 31 March, 2021,
resulting a decrease in net fair value amounting to approximately
HK$40.9 million (2020: net decrease in fair value approximately
HK$44.0 million) which has been recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

Details of these and other movements during the year in the property,
plant and equipment and investment properties are set out in notes 16
and 17 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

BORROWINGS

Borrowings repayable within one year or on demand are classified as
current liabilities. A repayment analysis of borrowings is set out in note
25 to the consolidated financial statements. No interest was capitalised
by the Group during the year.

MAJOR CLIENTS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31% March 2021, the Group’s five largest clients
accounted for in aggregate approximately 32% (2020: 33%) of the
Group’s revenue, of which one customer has contributed over 10% of
the total revenue of the Group (2020: one customer has contributed over
10% of the total revenue of the Group).

The Group had no major suppliers due to the nature of the principal
activities of the Group.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholder of
the Company which to the knowledge of the Directors of the Company
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital have an
interest in the Group’s five largest clients.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Non-executive directors
Mr. IP Man Tin, David (Chairman)
Dr. SZE Ping Fat

Executive directors
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew
Mr. MOK Kwai Hang

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan

Mr. POON Kai Tik

Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan

Brief biographical details in respect of the directors are set out in the
“Biography of directors and senior management” from pages 13 to 16 of
this annual report.

In accordance with Articles 116 of the Company’'s Articles of
Association, Mr. Mok Kwai Hang, Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan and
Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan shall retire by rotation from office at the AGM and
being eligible, offers themselves for re-election at the AGM.

The term of office of each of the independent non-executive Directors
lasts until his retirement by rotation as required by the Company’s
Articles of Association.

The Company received confirmation of independence in respect
of the year ended 31t March, 2021 from each of the independent
non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Revised Listing
Rules. Up to and as at the date of this report, the Company still
considers the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out in Hong Kong and
accordingly shall comply with material relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong. During the year and up to the date of this report,
the Company has complied with all the material relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Article 179 of Articles of Association of the Company provides that
every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by
him/her as a Director or other officer of the Company in defending
any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given
in his/her favour, or in which he is acquitted. Subject to the Cayman
companies law, if any Director or other person shall become personally
liable for the payment of any sum primarily due from the Company, the
Board may execute or cause to be executed any mortgage, charge,
or security over or affecting the whole or any part of the assets of the
Company by way of indemnity to secure the Director or person so
becoming liable as aforesaid from any loss in respect of such liability.

In addition, the Company has taken out and maintained directors’
and officers’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides
appropriate cover the certain legal actions brought against its directors
and officers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an eco-friendly corporation that
tries to reduce the impacts of its operation on the environment, and to
ensure our compliance of prevailing environmental protection laws and
regulations. For details, please refer to the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” contained in this annual report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group continues to ride on 6 key pillars on the six business
streams, being (i) Brokerage (securities and futures), (ii) Financing, (iii)
Corporate Financial Advisory, (iv) Assets Management, (v) Properties
Investment and (vi) Precious Metal Trading.

Yet there is no major customers or suppliers involved in the operation
of business, we maintain good working relationship with them to create
value for the Group. The Group also values the knowledge and skills of
its employees, and continues to provide favourable career development
opportunities for its employees.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the contracts described under the section headed “Connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions” below, no
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any
Director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND

SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31t March, 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which are required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO) or which are required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein, or which are required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
were as follows:

EERNEN kR
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ZEKIN  AREHEEANE R B ES2ET]
VEMREELFAEABRADALR - MA
AEEENAPERRFERBFEEARRLHA
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EERTETRABRFRARAABE D
2B BERGRES 2 EERAR

RZB-—HZA=+—H FRAEEFHT
BUIBABRARAHEMEREE (FERE
ZREERGIEXV) 2B - HERG RESF
BAE T s AR  AREE S RAE G
SEXVERFT K87 R A A G A A B R B R T O 4
@ (BRREESF AR RN BB XAENE
ERRAEEORALAR)  RERBESF R
HERPIEI52FAE N %A E L& e fft
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ZREMGRNA B

Number of shares
RH%E
Personal
interests Family
(held as interests Percentage
heneficial (interest Corporate Other of issued
Name of Director owner) of spouse) interests interests Total  share capital
EUN; 5 FRER BE{j}
3.2 (REEEAA) (BRER) EEER EfpgR @ RAESM
Ordinary Shares of HK$0.01 each AL ASREE.01ETZ
in the Company EER
CHENG Wai Ling, Annie (Note 1) kW) > - 1992721496 - 1992721496 74.29%
CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew (Note 1) BER(HZ1) - - 192,721,496 - 1992721496 74.29%
MOK Kwai Hang (Note 2) @) 1,200,000 1394,190 = = 2,594,190 0.10%
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Note 1: As at 31t March, 2021, CCAA Group Limited (“CCAA”), an associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) of the Company,
was directly interested in 1,992,721,496 shares in, representing
approximately 74.29% of, the issued share capital of the Company.
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew, Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie and their
family members are the beneficiaries of the trust which assets include
interests in the entire issued share capital of CCAA and accordingly,
they are deemed to be interested in 1,992,721,496 shares and the entire
issued share capital of CCAA under the SFO.

Note 2: As at 31¢ March, 2021, Mr. MOK Kwai Hang, an executive Director of the
Company with his spouse together have beneficial interest in 2,594,190
shares of the Company.

At no time during the year was the Company, its subsidiaries or its
associate a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors or
executives of the Company (including their spouse and children under
18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition in
shares or debentures of the Company or its associate.

Save as disclosed above, as at 315t March, 2021, none of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company had any interest or short position
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO) or which are required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or which are required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
At no time during the year was the Company, its ultimate holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors or chief executives of the Company or their respective
spouse or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of,
the Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31t March, 2021, the following persons or corporations, interest in
5% or more in the shares and underlying shares of the Company have
been notified to the Company and recorded in the register of substantial
shareholders’ interests in shares and short positions required to be kept
under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:

Number of shareholder

Number of shares held

FERRNRAQRA 2RO RAERG 2 EE
RXAE

R-ZB-_—%=HA=1t—-8H" Tﬁ‘J/\i%ﬁlEdﬁ
BAARFBRD RABRNBE%A L ZBRH

sRARMAEARR  UWAREES LS K
BISEXVERE 3361 R E LN EBMR B LA -

Percentage of
total number of
shares in issued

BRREE FEEBRREY HERTROABEDE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each RAREBREEOIETZ

in the Company EBR
CCAA (Note) CCAA(f1:#) 1,992,721,496 74.29%

Note: ldentical to those disclosed above as “Directors’ and chief executives’
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation”.

Save as disclosed above, as at 315t March, 2021, the Directors are not
aware of any other persons who have interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares of equity derivatives or debentures of the
Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which would be required to be disclosed to the Company
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with
reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the
results of the Group. In addition, the Directors’ remuneration is reviewed
by the Remuneration Committee annually.

REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Other than as an agent for clients of the Company or its subsidiaries,
neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries repurchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during the year ended
31t March, 2021.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions undertaken by the Group are included in the transactions
set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements, certain
details of which are disclosed in compliance with the requirements of
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions in note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements and have confirmed that the
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions have
been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from (as appropriate)
independent third parties; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The auditors of the Company have reviewed the continuing connected
transactions during the year as set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements and confirmed that these transactions:

(i) were approved by the Board of Directors of the Company;

(i) where applicable, were in accordance with the pricing policies of
the Company;

(iii) had been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing the transactions; and

(iv) have not exceeded the caps stated in the relevant announcement.

As disclosed in the joint announcement of the Company and UBA
Investments Limited (“UBA”, together with its subsidiaries as the “UBA
Group”) dated 25" January, 2019, various members of the Group
entered into certain conditional agreements with the UBA Group, which
would constitute continuing connected transactions (the “CCT”) on the
part of the Group for the years ending 31¢ March, 2020, 2021 and 2022.
The relevant resolutions of the Company approving the CCT have been
passed at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
26" March, 2019.
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CONFIRMATION FOR CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

A letter pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules has been issued
to the Board by the auditors of the Company confirming the matters
stated in Rule 14A.56 in respect of the above continuing connected
transactions for management agreement.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.

PENSION SCHEME

The Group has operated a pension scheme under the rules and
regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (the
“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately in an independently managed
fund. The Group has followed the minimum statutory contribution
requirements of 5% of eligible employees’ relevant aggregate income.
The contributions, amounting HK$453,000 (2020: HK$455,000), are
charged to the consolidated income statement as incurred.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders under the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of
Association and the Companies Laws of the Cayman Islands.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee according to “A
Guide for the Formation of an Audit Committee” published by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The primary duties of
the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting
process and internal control system of the Group.

As at 315t March, 2021, the Audit Committee of the Group is comprised
of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAN Chung
Yee, Alan, Mr. POON Kai Tik and Mr. HUlI Man Ho, Ivan. Two of them
have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as prescribed by the Listing Rules. The
main duties of the Audit Committee include the review of the relationship
with external auditors of the Company, review of financial information of
the Group and oversight of the Group’s financial reporting system and
internal control procedures.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Listing Rules have been amended by the Stock Exchange by
replacing the Code of Best Practice in Appendix 14 by a new Code
on Corporate Governance Practices (“CG Code”) and adding a new
Appendix 23 on the requirements for a Corporate Governance Report to
be included in annual reports of Listed Issuers.

Pursuant to code provisions A.4.1 in respect of the service term of
directors, none of the existing non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) is appointed for a specific term.
This constitutes a deviation from code provision A.4.1 of the Code.
However, all the Directors are subject to the retirement provisions under
article 116 of the Articles of Association of the Company. As such,
the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those in the Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors by Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules. Upon enquiry by the Company, all Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code throughout the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

As at 31t March, 2021, none of the Directors and their associates
had any interests in an entity whose business competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Company’s business.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the percentage of the
Company’s shares which are in the hands of the public is not less than
25% of the Company's total number of issued shares.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 29 to 45 of this
Annual Report.

AUDITORS

The financial statements for the year ended 31t March 2019, 2020
and 2021 were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited. HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited shall hold office until the conclusion of
the next annual general meeting of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in auditors of the
Company in any of the preceding three years.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited will retire and a resolution for their
reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. IP Man Tin, David
Chairman and Non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 25" June, 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board of Directors of the Upbest Group Limited (the “Company”)
(the “Board”) is committed to maintain high standard of corporate
governance practices, which are crucial to the smooth, effective
and transparent operation of the Company and its ability to attract
investment, protect rights of shareholders and stakeholders, and
enhance shareholder value.

Corporate Governance Practices

This report describes the Company’s corporate governance practices
and structures that were in place during the financial year ended 31%
March, 2021, with specific reference to the principles and guidelines
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) issued by The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). In developing and
reviewing its corporate governance policies and practices, the
Company has sought to adopt a balanced approach.

Compliance with Corporate Governance Code

The Company complied with the code provisions as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules throughout year ended 31t March, 2021, except for the following:

Code Provision A.4.1

Pursuant to code provisions A.4.1 in respect of the service term of
directors, none of the existing non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) is appointed for a specific term.
This constitutes a deviation from code provision A.4.1 of the Code.
However, all the Directors are subject to the retirement provisions under
article 116 of the Articles of Association of the Company. As such,
the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those in the Code.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as the codes of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following
specific enquiry by the Company, that they fully complied with the
Model Code throughout the year.

The Company has also established written guidelines regarding
securities transaction on no less exacting terms of the Model Code for
senior management and specific individual who may have access to
price sensitive information in relation to the securities of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Structure

With the assistance of the Compliance Department, the Board has
designed a proper corporate governance structure. Currently, there
are seven board committees, including Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee, Credit Committee, Executive
Committee, Compliance and Risk Steering Committee and Strategy
Management Committee. Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee perform their distinct roles in accordance
with their respective terms of reference. Executive Committee assists
the Group to set up business strategy and planning, and Credit
Committee oversees the granting of credit facilities. Compliance
and Risk Steering Committee maintains and promotes the fairness,
efficiency, competitiveness transparency and orderliness of the
Group’s business. Strategy Management Committee aims to review and
formulate the Group’s operations and business activities development.

Board Composition, Function and Practices

As at 31¢t March, 2021, the Board comprises of the chairman
(non-executive Director), one non-executive Director, three executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. Mr. IP Man
Tin, David acts as chairman (“Chairman”) and non-executive Director of
the Board. Dr. SZE Ping Fat is a non-executive Director. Other executive
Directors are Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie, Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew
and Mr. MOK Kwai Hang. There are three independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, Mr. POON Kai Tik and Mr. HUI
Man Ho. Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan have
appropriate professional accounting experience and expertise. All
Directors are subject to election by shareholders at the first General
Meeting after their appointment and are subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and eligible for re-election in
accordance with the Company’s Articles and Association.

All Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise,
and have exhibited high standard of personal and professional ethics
and integrity. The biographical details of each Director and senior
management are disclosed in pages 13 to 16 of this Annual Report.

Each independent non-executive Director has pursuant to the rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules, confirmed that he is independent of the Company
and the Company also considers that they are independent.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material relationship) among members of the Board except that
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew is the brother of Ms. CHENG Wai Ling,
Annie.
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The Board, headed by the Chairman, is responsible for formulation
and approval of the Group’s development and business strategies and
policies, approval of annual budgets and business plans, overseeing
the Group’s compliance with statutory and regulatory obligations,
scrutinising the performance of the Group in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives, financial reporting and ensuring
proper internal control, risk management have been implemented,
recommendation of dividend, and supervision of management in
accordance with the rules governing the meeting of the Board, articles
of association and rules governing the meeting of shareholders.

The executive Directors are responsible for day-to-day management
of the Company’s operations. They conduct regular meetings with the
senior management of the Company and its subsidiaries and associate,
at which operational issues and financial performance are evaluated.

Regular Board meetings are held no less than four times a year. Apart
from the regular Board meetings, the Chairman shall hold meetings
with the non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) without the presence of executive Directors at least once
every year.

In respect of regular Board meetings, an agenda and accompanying
board papers are sent in full to all Directors in a timely manner and
at least three days before the intended date of a Board or board
committee meeting. Adequate information related to the issues are
also supplied for the Board and its committee to make decisions which
is for the best interests of the Group. Notice of at least fourteen days
are given to all Directors and all Directors have an opportunity to
attend. The Directors who cannot attend in person might through other
electronic means of communications to participate. Senior management
executives may, from time to time, be invited to attend the Board
meeting for making presentation and/or answering any queries that may
be raised by the Board.

The non-executive Directors would seek guidance and direction from
the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) and executive Directors
on the future business direction and strategic plans in order to gain
a comprehensive understanding of the business of the Company to
facilitate their exercise of independent judgment. The non-executive
Directors also reviewed the financial information and operational
performance of the Group on a regular basis.
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Board Diversity Policy

the Board adopted the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) with a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company. The Company views the increasing board
diversity as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives and its sustainable development. In determining
the composition of the Board, a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service are
taken into account in respect of the diversity of the Board. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates will be
selected based on objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits
of diversity of the Board. Final decisions to be made by the Board will
be based on each candidate’s attributes and contributions to be made
to the Board.

The Nomination Committee has responsibilities to identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships and on relevant matters relating to the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for directors,
in particular the chairman and the chief executive officer, taking
into account the Company’s corporate strategy and the skills mix,
knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the future.

The Nomination Committee will also review the Board diversity policy,
as appropriate and review the measurable objectives that the Board has
set for implementing the Board diversity policy, and the progress on
achieving the objectives.

The following tables further illustrate the diversity of the Board members
as at 31t March, 2021:

EFTEZULBE
EZERBETESLLER ((EFCEZ LR
K] NBBARANAHERTEER - A0
ARENEZSZ T AERRBERRREE
FRNBEBLE -ERTEFENARE €%
BEFENZT BRETRRER - Fik
XERBEER Bk FXELR - K- A&
PRGEEHTASHAER - RERESFZ (L2
& MBEESENZIHABAET - TARE
BERERZEA -EFETRET —BREANGK
HRHEESNRRMIERERE -

REZBGREMNECARAEERIERES
WAL THRERZABALHEESRBLR
EZeRHBANARARRNEERBR AR
FEOREE  MH - BREZTICAE  HERE
HEMZREESUARER - TRAKETEN
BFREENESGRLES

REZEENFHEEERATRIEZES LI
BREBHNESE/IMTESEZLLBRM A
EMAFERREMERER -

RZZEZ—F=ZA=+—H EFg2%H
g/ N

Gender Age Group Professional Experience
15 Egap ExfE
Business  Accounting Law and Property

Male  Female 40to60 60orabove Management and Finance Litigation Development
Name of Directors EEfE Bt it 40EE60R  60EIUL ERER EHREE  EEED NEER
Mr.IPMan Tin, David (Chaiman) ~ EBX%4(28) / / /
Dr. SZE Ping Fat BREET / / / /
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie PERME / / / / /
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew demit / v v /
Mr. MOK Kwai Hang EREEE / / / /
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan RRELE / / / /
Mr. POON Kai Tik RREEE / v v
Mr. HUI Man Ho, lvan kLA / / /
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Dividend Policy

The Company may declare and distribute dividend to the shareholders,
provided that the Group records a profit after tax and that the
declaration and distribution of dividend does not affect the normal
operations of the Group.

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount the Board shall take into account, inter alia:

the general financial condition of the Group:

- capital and debt level of the Group;

- future cash requirements and availability for business operations,
business strategies and future development needs;

- the general market conditions;

- any restrictions on payment of dividend that may be imposed by
the Group’s lenders; and

- any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any

restrictions under the Company Law of the Cayman Islands and Articles
of Association of the Company.
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Proceedings of the Board and Respective Board Committees
Meetings

The Company Secretary will assist the chairman of the Board and the
respective board committees in setting agenda for meetings, and each
Director is given an opportunity to include any matters to be transacted
in the agenda. Where any Director is considered to be having a conflict
of interest in any transactions, the Director concerned will not be
counted in the quorum of the relevant meeting.

Minutes of meetings of the Board and the respective board committees
are recorded in details. All draft minutes are circulated to all those
present at the meetings for comment before submission to the chairman
of the meetings for approval.

During the financial year ended 31t March, 2021, the Board held
4 Board meetings. Due notice and Board papers were given to all
Directors prior to the meeting in accordance with the Company’s articles
of association and the CG Code. Each individual member of the Board
and the respective Board committee at the Board and the respective
board committee meeting(s) held during the year and attendance of the
individual Directors are as follows:

EZERREZZEEERZER

RANEEHEEELIENEEZEREER

Ie@ZFE REFTRAABENATREZS
HEAZE - MENEZRRREEARSTE
Ma@R - AARESH T RTEERSH
EENE

EFSRBESFORR e OO EHER
B-MAERZERCROEEREGATIR
BEZARTHEEZZALHE -

RBE_ZT_—F=A=+—HILZMEEFE -
EXQUR4ANESZSeR - BERNNES
EXHERBARAERZERMAREEERT
AEERAEREBES -ESSRESELEE
ZRBRFNEREEEEENEESFREES
B MEERMT

Attendance/Number of Meetings held

HERR/ EHEEAY
Executive Audit  Remuneration Nomination Annual

Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

B8 YMEEE ENZEE HHzee R#zag e
EEpg e ] ] g ] BEAE
Total number of meetings EETE 4 1 3 1 1 1
Non-executive Directors FuTES
Mr. 1P Man Tin, David (Chairman) ERREE(LR) 4 NIA B N/A R NIA R R N/A R A 1
Dr. SZF Ping Fat BREEL 4 NIA T B NA NER NA M EE NA M EE 1
Executive Directors BiTES
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie eRNE 4 1 NA T &R 1 1 1
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew ey ok 4 1 N/A R N/A R N/A T~ 1
Mr. MOK Kwai Hang ERfRE 4 1 N/A M NA R B N/A R 1
Independent Non-executive Directors B FHTES
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan Rr&LAE 4 N/A TR 3 1 1 1
Mr. POON Kai Tik AREEE 4 N/A TiE R 3 1 1 1
Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan SFERE 4 N/A TiE R 3 1 1 1
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

To ensure Directors’ contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant, the Company encourages Directors to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills and understanding of the business and markets
in which the Group operates. Directors are also provided with monthly
performance and position updates of the Group, and information such
as performance and key operational highlights to enable the Board
as a whole as well as each Director to discharge their duties. For the
financial year ended 31 March, 2021, all Directors have participated
in appropriate continuous professional development and provided the
Company with their records of training. A summary of training records
provided by the current Directors is as follows:

Reading articles, newspapers,
journal and/or updates
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Attending trainings
and/or seminars
MEXE - #]E

Name of Directors BEENSF WHE,/SBgHEN LEEER /I
Non-executive Directors FHITES

Mr. IP Man Tin, David (Chairman) EeXELE(TE) 4 4
Dr. SZE Ping Fat iRV v v
Executive Directors HITES

Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie gE¥% /N E v v
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew BEmEE v v
Mr. MOK Kwai Hang EEgkE v/ v
Independent non-executive Directors B FEHTES

Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan RR&ESLE v v
Mr. POON Kai Tik ERGE L E v v
Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan HUE T E v/ v

Company secretary

Company secretary is to ensure there is good information flow within
the Board and between the Board and senior management, provides
advice to the Board in relation to directors’ obligations under the Listing
Rules and applicable laws and regulations and assists the Board in
implementing the corporate governance practices. Company secretary
has provided his training records to the Company indicating his
compliance with the training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

Independent Professional Advice

The Company has set up a procedure agreed by the Board for its
Directors to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, and at the Company’s expense to discharge their duties
to the Company.
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Chairman and Management

The roles of the Chairman is separated from that of the CEO and their
responsibilities are clearly established. The Chairman and CEO of the
Company are Mr. IP Man Tin, David and Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie
respectively. The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership to
the Board to ensure the Board will act in the best interests of the Group.

The CEO will work with executive committee (including head of each
department) and other executive Directors to manage the businesses
of the Group. The CEO is responsible for the day-to-day management
of the business of the Group, attends to formulation and successful
implementation of policies, and assumes full accountability to the Board
for all operations of the Group.

Two of the independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAN
Chung Yee, Alan and Mr. HUlI Man Ho, lvan have the appropriate
professional accounting experiences and expertise. The Board
membership is covered by professionally qualified and widely
experienced personnel so as to bringing in valuable contribution and
different professional advices and consultancy for the development of
the Company. Over one-half of the Board members have recognised
legal, professional securities and/or accounting qualifications.

In the course of discharging their duties, the Directors act in good faith,
with due diligence and care, and in the best interests of the Company

and its shareholders. Their responsibilities include:

- regular Board meetings focusing on business strategy, operational
issues and financial performance;

- active participation on the boards of subsidiaries and associate;
- approval of annual budgets for each operating company covering
strategy, financial and business performance, key risks and

opportunities;

- monitoring the quality, timeliness, relevance and reliability of
internal and external reporting;

- reviewing of the Compliance with the CG Code;
- monitoring and managing potential conflicts of interest of

management, Board members and shareholders, including misuse
of corporate assets and abuse in related party transaction;

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &t H 4 WA A)
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- ensuring processes are in place to maintain the overall integrity
of the Company, including financial statements, relationships with
suppliers, customers and other stakeholders, and compliance with
all laws and ethics; and

- reviewing of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company through the Audit Committee.

To enable the Company’s Directors to meet their obligations, an
appropriate organizational structure is in place with clearly defined
responsibilities and limits of authority.

Board Committees

A number of Board Committees, including Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee, Credit Committee,
Executive Committee, Compliance and Risk Steering Committee
and Strategy Management Committee have been established by the
Board to strengthen its functions and to enhance its expertise. These
committees have been formed with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with the committees authority and duties.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee according to “A
Guide for the Formation of an Audit Committee” published by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. In accordance
with the requirements of the CG Code, the terms of reference of the
Audit Committee was revised and approved on 18" July, 2005 and 16"
March, 2012 to comply with the provisions set out in the CG Code. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting system and internal control procedures, review of
the relationship with the auditors and financial information of the Group.
The revised terms of reference, explaining its role and the authority
delegated to it by the Board are available for inspection on request at
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

As at 31t March, 2021, the Audit Committee of the Company is
comprised of three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, Mr. POON Kai Tik and Mr. HUI Man Ho,
Ivan. It is chaired by Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan. It reports directly
to the Board and reviews matters within the scope of audit, such as
financial statements and internal controls, to protect the interests of the
Company'’s shareholders.

The Audit Committee meets regularly with the Company’s external
auditors to discuss audit process and accounting issues, and reviews
effectiveness of internal controls and risk evaluation. Written terms
of reference, which describes the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee are regularly reviewed and updated by the Board.
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Set out below is the summary of work done in financial year 2021:

to review the interim financial report and annual financial
statements;

- to review effectiveness of the internal control system, financial
controls and risk management system;

- toreview auditors’ statutory audit plan and letters of representation;

- to consider and approve audit fees and audit work;

- ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and
has appropriate standing within the Company;

- toreview of continuing connected transactions and annual cap;

- review of the internal audit review reports prepared by the internal
audit function and discuss the risk management and internal
control issues of the Group;

- review of the 2021 internal audit plan; and

- review of the updated reports on substantiation of the resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions and their training
programmes and budget, with a recommendation to the Board for
approval.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited, be nominated for re-appointment as external
auditors of the Company at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year. Details of
individual attendance of its members are set out in the table above.

Remuneration Committee

As at 318 March, 2021, the Remuneration Committee is comprised of
independent non-executive Directors Mr. POON Kai Tik, Mr. CHAN
Chung Yee, Alan and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan and an executive Director,
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie. Mr. POON Kai Tik is appointed as
chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The Committee shall meet not
less than once every year. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee have been reviewed with reference to the CG Code.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &t H 4 WA A)
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The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to
review and consider the Company’s policy for remuneration of Directors
and senior management, to determine remuneration packages of
executive Directors and senior management including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, and to recommend to
the Board remuneration of non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors. Set out below is the summary of work of the
Remuneration Committee done in financial year 2021:

to review the remuneration policy for the financial year 2021;

to review the terms of reference of remuneration of committee;

to review the policy for the remuneration of the Directors; and

to review the annual share option policy (if any).

The Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting during the financial year
ended 31t March, 2021. Details of individual attendance of its members
are set out in the table above.

Nomination Committee

The Board has established a Nomination Committee on 215t March,
2012 comprising one executive Director, Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie
and three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. POON Kai Tik,
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan. It is chaired by
Mr. POON Kai Tik. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee,
which is available on the Company’s website, set out details of the
Committee’s duties, powers and functions, nomination procedures and
the process and criteria adopted for selection and recommendation of
candidates for directorship of the Company, summary of which in the
financial year 2021 is set out below:

- to determine the policy for the nomination of Directors;

- to review and recommend the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy;

- toreview the size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience and length of service) of the Board annually; and
making recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes to implement the Company’s corporate strategy;
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- toidentify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;

- to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

- to make recommendations to the Board on the relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the financial year
ended 31t March, 2021. Details of individual attendance of its members
are set out in the table above.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee shall nominate suitable candidates to the
Board for it to consider to appoint as director to fill casual vacancies
and consider of directors to be re-appointed at an annual general
meeting.

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the Nomination
Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

- Reputation for integrity;

- Accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries in
which the Company’s business is involved and other professional
qualifications;

- Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest; and

- Diversity in all aspects including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, experience (professional or
otherwise), skills, knowledge and length of service.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive
and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to nominate
any person, as it considers appropriate.

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary personal
information in a prescribed form, together with their written consent to
be appointed as a director and to the public disclosure of their personal
data on any documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of or in
relation to their standing for election as a director.
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Credit Committee

A Credit Committee comprises two executive Directors and
other members responsible for overseeing the granting of credit
facilities. Daily operation of money lending will be guided by the
stringent procedures as prescribed by the internal control manual. The
Committee meets weekly and ad-hoc meetings will be held when market
and economic conditions changes significantly.

Executive Committee

The Committee comprises the CEO and the heads of each departments
of the Group. The Committee manages the day-to-day business of the
Group and meets regularly to resolve problems, makes decisions on
business matters to achieve corporate goals and objectives.

Compliance and Risk Steering Committee

The Group has established a Compliance and Risk Steering Committee
headed by the Compliance Officer. The objectives of the Compliance
and Risk Steering Committee are to:

- maintain and promote the fairness, efficiency, competitiveness
transparency and orderliness of the Group’s business;

- promote understanding by the staff members of the operation and
functioning of the Group’s business;

- provide appropriate protection for the Group’s clients; and
- prevent crime and misconduct in the Group’s business.

The Compliance and Risk Steering Committee meets regularly to
discuss any current compliance issue and enhance the Group’s
practice and relevant compliance issue if necessary. It is believed that
better and balanced corporate governance environment will help to
enhance the Group’s expanding process which in turn translates into
shareholder value in the future.

Strategy Management Committee

The Group has established a Strategy Management Committee headed
by an executive Director. The Strategy Management Committee meeting
is held on a regular basis. The objectives of the Strategy Management
Committee include:

- formulation of medium and long-term strategies of the Group;

- review of operations and business activities of the Group; and

- making recommendations to improve operational efficiencies.
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Corporate Governance Functions
The Board as a whole is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;
and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

Internal Control and Risk Management

The internal controls of the Group are designed to provide reasonable
assurance that the Group’s assets and shareholders’ investment are
safeguarded against unauthorised use or disposition, transactions are
executed in accordance with the management’s authorisation, internal
audit, proper accounting records are maintained, and the relevant
legislation and regulations are being complied with.

Internal control procedures and risk management systems are in place
in each of the principal operating units of the Group. The Compliance
Department undertakes the role of reviewing and assessing the Group’s
internal control system implemented in the principal operations for their
respective effectiveness and efficiency on a continuous basis.

The key tasks basically include:

- reviewing the Group’s principal activities and risk management
effectiveness;

- conducting comprehensive examination of the practices and
procedures as to the recognition of income and expenditure; and
internal control systems of the business units of the Group on a
regular basis;
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- undertaking special reviews and investigations of areas for
improvement identified by management; and

- the Audit Committee of the Group reviews internal control issues
identified by external auditors, regulatory authorities and the
management, and evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The Compliance Department has conducted a thorough review and
assessment of the Group’s existing internal control systems. The
review covers all material activities, including finance, operational and
compliance controls and risk management.

Internal Audit

Internal audit is an independent function reporting to the Board.
It provides an independent and objective assurance to safeguard
the Group’s operations. It effectuates a systematic and disciplined
approach to evaluate and improve the Group’s process on risk
management, internal control and governance. The audit plans are risk
based to ensure that a methodical coverage of the Group’s operations
and resources are focused on high risk areas. Ad hoc reviews are
conducted on areas of concern where necessary.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviews the adequacy
of resources, training programmes, budget, qualifications and
experience of the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
staff in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Audit Committee and the Board review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and fulfill the
requirement of the CG Code regarding risk management and internal
control systems in general.

Dissemination of Inside Information

The Board ensures the inside information is kept strictly confidential
until the relevant announcement is made. The Directors are not aware
of any significant areas which need to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders.

Finance

The Company’s assets were used in an appropriate manner, the
expenditures in each of the operating units of the Group were under
strict control. Expenditures exceeding certain predetermined amounts
needed management’s authorisation. Accounting records were properly
maintained.
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Operation

A hierarchical system with proper work flow and reporting procedures
was duly established in each of the operating units. Every employee
was assigned with a specific area of duty and responsibility

Regular meetings with the attendance of senior management and
representatives from each of the operating units were held during the
year in order to improve communication and identify potential issues
within the Group.

Listing Rules Compliance

Throughout the year, the Group has fully complied with the Listing Rules
requirements. Financial reports, announcements and circulars have
been prepared and published in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules.

Summary Remarks

The Board is satisfied that adequate measures have been put in place
to strengthen and continue to improve the internal control systems. The
Listing Rules Task Force has been formed and continued to monitor
the operations of the Group. The prevailing internal control system are
complied satisfactorily with all the requirements of the Listing Rules.

External Auditors

During the year ended 31t March, 2021 the remuneration payable or
paid to the Group’s existing external auditors, HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited are set out as follows:

Services rendered for the Group
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Non-audit and taxation services FEEZ MR ERH 30 30

782 737

Going Concern

The Board, having made appropriate enquiries, considers that the
Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that for this reason, it is appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &£ H4 WA )
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Directors’ Responsibility in Preparing the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. The Statements of the Auditors
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 65
to 71.

Communication with Shareholders

Communications between the Company and its shareholders can be
through several means. The shareholders can visit the Company’s
website at www.upbest.com to learn the general background of the
Company and its activities, which enable the general public to have
a better understanding of the Group. Extensive and detail information
related to the Group’s activities and financial data can be retrieved
from the annual report and interim report issued. In addition, the annual
general meeting provides an opportunity for direct communication
between the Board and the Company’s shareholders.

An AGM held on Friday, 28" August, 2020, the Chairman of the Board
and the representative of external auditors were available to answer
questions at the AGM. The chairman of the meeting had explained the
procedures of conducting a poll during the meeting. All resolutions were
proposed by the Chairman at the AGM and voted separately by way of
poll. All the votes cast at the said meeting were properly counted and
recorded.

Shareholder’s Right and Investor Relations

The Way for Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 72 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
general meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of
any two or more members of the Company deposited at the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying
the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the rights of voting at general meetings of the Company. General
meetings may also be convened on the written requisition of any one
member of the Company which is a recognised clearing house (or its
nominee) deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal
office, the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and
signed by the requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company which carries the rights of voting at general
meetings of the Company.
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OVERVIEW

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) is pleased to present the ESG report (“ESG
Report”) for the year ended 31t March, 2021.

The ESG Report outlines the Group’s sustainability initiatives and
selected Key Performance Indicators (“KPI”) that are material to the
Group and its stakeholders on environmental, social and governance
issues for the year ended 31%t March, 2021. Our Group has fully
embraced social responsibility as our contribution to address the ESG
requirements and challenges society faces. We have implemented
a number of significant initiatives relating to employment and labour
practices, operation management and environmental protection.

The Group recognised that sustainable development as one of the core
values of our Group. The incorporation of the concept of sustainable
development into business operations would create long-term value for
employees, customers, business partners, shareholders, investors and
the community.

REPORTING BOUNDARY AND REPORTING PRINCIPLE

The policies, statements, data and other contents in this ESG report
encompass all business scopes of the Company. The information
included in this report covers the period from 1st April, 2020 to 31¢
March, 2021, unless otherwise stated. Relatively crucial and significant
ESG issues are shown in the ESG report. KPIs are disclosed in a
measurable manner with sufficient description on the changes. The ESG
report is prepared under an unbiased basis with same methodologies
adopted throughout the Year.

This Report was prepared according to the “comply or explain”
provisions of Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). The
scope of this Report covers the principal businesses operated by the
Group in Hong Kong and Macau which are the principal locations of the
Group’s operation. This Report has been passed and approved by the
Board of Directors.

FEEDBACK

If you have any comments and advice on this Report or our
performance on sustainable development, please contact us by email
at info@upbest.com. Your feedback would greatly help us continuously
improve our policies for promoting the sustainable development of the
Group.
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SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholder engagement is important for us to understand the
expectations of key stakeholders, thus formulating strategies and put
into practice corresponding policies focus on stakeholders’ concerns
and expectations. We have engaged the stakeholders directly and
indirectly, including the Board of Directors, employees, customers,
suppliers and investors, through different forms of communication. The
table below sets out the concerned matters of different stakeholders
during the reporting period.

Stakeholder
EmA

Main concerns
TE@EIEE
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EMBIEE

Channels for communication/feedback

BB/ RERE

Regulatory bodies

Gl
R
2
ot

Shareholders/Investors

BRIREE

Customers

BP

Employees

Smo
H

Community

it

Legal compliance
Anti-corruption and anti-money
laundering

Operation performance
Risk management

g e g
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Customer relationship
Responsible investment
Risk management
EFBRE

BEERE

[

Long-term career development
Health and safety
Remuneration and benefits
Staff training

REBEER

BEEZE

B K8 A

8 T3

Community service

NS

Policies and regulations updates
On-site investigations

Formal correspondence
Tele-communication
BERROERE N

H5AE

E{E K

BTiEE

Company website

Annual general meeting
Announcements and disclosures
Public reports

NGSE S

BRERBFRE

NEREE

NGEE

Telephone/E-mails
Surveys
Conferences

B/ BFHM
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Regular management & staff meetings
Internal policy circulation
Performance Evaluation
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Telephone/E mails
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Directors have evaluated the materiality of ESG issues to the Group
of which 15 major issues of them have been identified. Company has
sought stakeholders to score each sustainability issue according to
their views towards the importance to the Company and to stakeholders
respectively. Materiality matrix graph has been prepared based on the
scores given by the stakeholders as follows:

Materiality Matrix

Community service A% AR7E

Customers’ privacy &P L&

Customer relationship & F B81%
Anti-corruption and anti-fraud & /& I 2 S L
Supply chain management fi /& §E & 312

Risk control EfR12 4l

Operation performance 48 & %45

Legal compliance & #RE %

Staff remuneration and benefits 8 T 3B K /&7
Health and safety i F#% %

Staff training 8 T3

Compliance of labour law &1E &4 TA R
Waste classification B4 %8

Paper conservation &34 #4%

sear,

Energy conservation and emission reduction &7 5k

H to Stakeholders ¥ 5%

Directors are of the view that those issues identified are regarded as
material and allow us to determine future business strategies based
on those issues in order to effectively respond to our stakeholders’
concerns and expectations.

We shall continue to collect stakeholders’ opinions, and take into
consideration the valuable suggestions and advice to proactively
implement our policies on environmental protection and social care to
foster sustainable development.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

Our Group treasures resources in the earth and considers building a
sustainable working environment as an important aspect in our business
strategies. The Group is committed to comply with laws and regulations
related to the environment and adopts various practices to prevent
pollution, reduce carbon footprint, increase recycling and minimise
use of natural resources by continually improving our environmental
management practices and measures.

During the year 31%t March 2021, we has no known non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations relating to air and greenhouse gas
emissions, discharges into water and land, generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous wastes (2020: nil).

Emissions

As the Group is not involved in any manufacturing activities. Emissions
produced directly by the Group only related to the executive passenger
vehicles used for senior executive staff’s local travel.

Unleaded Petrol used by the executive passenger vehicles of the Group
during the year ended:
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2021 2020
Gaseous fuel consumption REMEERE —E--F —TTF
Emission data from vehicles B HEEUE
Carbon dioxide (CO,) — a1k 7,147.1 6,536.4 kg (2DT)
Nitrogen Oxides (NO,) RELy =&l 2,634.7 2,4096  g(5)
Sulphur Oxides (SO,) maty 44.0 403  g(%®)
Particulate Matter (PM) RN 194.0 1774 g(32)
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Greenhouse gas emissions

During the year, there was 119.8 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
greenhouse gases emitted from the Group’s business operation which
mainly represent the consumption of electricity and papers.

BEREHEN
REE  ARBZREEBFHMT119.8M M =
SIHMEERERE  TESNARRNHERES

2021 2020
Greenhouse Gas Emission BERBHEN —EZ-F —T_TF
Scope 1 - Direct emissions E - ERUEN 74 6.5 tonne (M)
Scope 2 - Indirect emissions #E2— HE PN 106.2 91.7 tonne (M)
Scope 3 - Other indirect emissions #EZ— HMBETENR 6.5 7.8 tonne (M)
Total @it 119.8 106.0 tonne (W)
Energy and resources consumption BERMEIROE R

During operation, non-hazardous waste generated are mainly recycled
wastes such as papers. The Group considers that conservation
of natural resources is an important element for our sustainable
business. We promote various measures to efficiently use of our energy
as well as effectively minimize wastage throughout our daily operation.

Details of energy and resources consumed during the year ended 31¢
March, 2021 are tabulated below:

EEEBRRET  EEMFERENEIEZEE
BYMAR - ARERSREBRERERAA
FEXTNERTE - RMEESEER  UF
M AR R FIEERLN D B EEETRIRE -

BE_Z-_—F=RA=+—HILFEMEREZH
REERFENAT

2021 2020
Energy and resources consumption  #2RFE R H#E —E--F i e 33
Electricity B 5 150,848.0 116,1047  mWh (T E&)
Water K 484.0 330.2 me (325 K)
Paper i 1,299.4 1,549.7 kg (A fT)

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &t H 4 WA A)
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Efficient use of resources

We recognise the importance of efficient use of resource. Due to
business nature, we consume considerable amounts of electricity and
papers and with the efficient use of such, we try our best to minimize the
impact on the environment whilst we grow our businesses.

We have also provided environmental protection guideline to educate
our staff to adopt responsible behavior and promote environmental
protection in our work place and suggest ways to conserve the
consumption of resources.

We promote green office concept in our workplace to save our
electricity consumption. For instance, staff are reminded to set up the
temperature of air conditioner according to seasonal changes and
switch off lights and equipment after work, during lunch break or during
the time working outside the office and wherever possible. Energy
efficient office equipment is always preferred in making purchase
decisions.

To save papers, we encourage to use duplex printing for internal
documents in order to maximize the usage of waste paper. Facilities
and procedures are in place for paper waste recycling.

In addition to the resources conservative measures as stated above,
our Group also actively participates in recycling schemes. Equipment
such as computers, printers, and toner cartridges are returned to
suppliers. An electronic platform is used within the Group for internal
administration and effective communication with all staff at office.

Our Group is committed to uphold the resources conservation and
environmental protection in our business operation. In the future, we
continue our commitment in environmental protection into and strive to
build a greener and sustainable environment.
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Climate change risk

The Group’s principal businesses have no direct effect
on facing climate change. However, climate change risk
is increasing, and the extreme weather is affecting the
Global in recent years. The Group believes that no one

7 O
B /A

&

RIRE/LAR

KRBEIE,

A o

can escape from climate change, and everyone should put

effort on tackling the issue.

The table below is the description of the climate change
risk and the relevant measures:

Risk [k

Risk description [ [ # 4t

AEENTIBXBUABRRECIBEETVE - A - OF

B NIEN - BRRIREEFERR - ARER

ERAHMEBELS - BEAREKE  SEAIRENBERZ

TRAHRRE(CREROHELRAREE

Measures &5

Acute risks B E M E .
- Extreme weather such

as rainstorm and

typhoon

1% 3 K R

(MERERER)

[t may cause damage to building
foundations, damage to utilities cables,
risk of rain penetration due to heavy rain
and storm surges. There is risk of failure
to the operation of the Group.

H AR AR o [ 2 0 i BB I AL -
BEAREXEE VAEARKEENR
o AEBHEGREEEENRR -

Storm surges and heavy rain would
cause tree failure and immediate
dangers to the safety of our employees.
ERBRANSERHALLS YHES
MLZEBREERE -

The extreme weather may cause
damage to the direct and indirect risk
to telecommunications and computer
failure. The unstable network would
cause the risk to our principal business
activities which is securities trading and
other operations of the Group.

BmARAEGHBARERAEEXE
BEREENEE  TRENBESHEM

MEIBEBEY (EHFXHRAEEEM
7)) ERER o

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &£ H4 WA )

The Group has developed mitigation
measures to reduce the effect raised
by typhoons on our employees and
office. For instance, before the Black
Rainstorm Warning Signals and No.
8 or above Tropical Cyclone Warning
Signals incurred, the Group will release
employees from work and ensure there
is sufficient time for their journeys
between living place and office.

AEECHIERBER AR R EE K
PEEERBAZERNTE - fln - &
RERNESERRSRIIA LRTRE
EEERBLN ~AEESEEE T
BRBEERASEMEREMIPAE -
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Measures &

Chronic risk& £ & &
- Extreme weather
BimRR,

Compliance risk
SR ER

In long-term, the climate change would
change the chronic health condition.
For example, the higher temperature
would result in changes in transmission
patterns of infectious diseases or higher
risk of thermal stress.

REME REZCEHERGREM
e Pl WESHEE S EREL K EE
BANBEATRNREHEAR -

The law and regulations are expected to
be changed for the higher requirement
of ESG-related disclosure. For example,
the Group is expected to incur higher
compliance cost to comply with the
ESG related disclosure requirement
of the Group’s businesses. Failure of
disclosure or incorrect disclosure may
impose higher compliance risk to the
Group.
BOEBMERBRERE @ MER
FRANKBENERERMmEELZ({L -
m- AEEEAEELESHNARKA
NETAEEERORE HefEna
MR EEE Sk o MRFE ok T IE MR SR Al B
SRAEETRESHERAR -

The Group would regularly raise the
awareness of the employees to risk of
health issues caused by fluctuation
of temperature as well as the risk of
infectious diseases. At the current
stage, the chronic risk to the Company
is not significant.
AEEeEHRAESHRERIAMENK
) 2 % e RE R B DA I (B R R LR 69 3R
#o EHREE - AARREER LT E
e

The compliance risk would be
addressed by the regularly collection of
relevant ESG-related data and the local
laws and regulations regarding the ESG
related aspect.
AREREBATHRREERNERE i
BNERBHENNEMERIRR g
ME QR T MEDERIER RAR -
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SOCIAL ISSUES
Employment

Employee by age and gender

HERE

kS

Turnover by age group and gender

EERE R R MR BERKZFER R
2021 2020 2021 2020
—E-—F —T_TF —E--F el 23
Male Female Male  Female Male Female Male  Female

B pog 3 B

g id EY pog 3 St oy

0-18 years oldpg - - -

19-30 years old#% - - -

31-45 years oldsx 8 4 8 4 1 4 - -
46-60 years oldpx 11 7 13 6 - - 2 1
61 years old or aboverz st A F 3 7 2 6 - - 1 =
Total 22 18 23 16 1 4 3 1
st

Our employees are the most important asset that can drive the
long-term development and sustainability of the Group. We provide
benefits to our employees including salaries, incentives, directors’
fees and contribution to defined contribution retirement scheme.
Remuneration and benefit packages are determined with reference
to the position, skills, capability and performance of employees. Our
human resources department is responsible to comply with the following
applicable employment-related laws and regulations in Hong Kong:

J Employment Ordinance

J Minimum Wage Ordinance

o Employees’ Compensation Ordinance

J Sex Discrimination Ordinance

J Disability Discrimination Ordinance

o Family Status Discrimination Ordinance

o Race Discrimination Ordinance

J Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
o Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
o Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance

o Prevention of Bribery Ordinance

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &t H 4 WA A)
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During the year ended 31¢ March, 2021, the Group has no known
non-compliance with the above relevant regulations. We endeavour to
provide a well-structured and caring working environment to raise their
sense of belonging and work efficiency in the Group (2020: nil).

Health and Safety

Our Group strictly adhere to the laws and regulations regarding
occupational health and safety, for example the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance. We seek to provide a safe, health and
comfortable working environment for our employees to minimize any
adverse health and safety impacts arising from our operation.

According to our record during the year ended 31% March, 2021, no
work-related fatalities or sick leave for work injury were taken from our
employees (2020: nil).

COVID-19 Measures

The outbreak of the COVID-19 was continuing since early 2020 which
has brought about additional uncertainties for our employees’ health,
especially our attendants. The Group has purchased additional
cleaning and epidemic prevention equipment and consumables such
as surgical face masks, sanitizer etc. The Group has implemented
the precautionary measures to prevent and control the spread of the
COVID-19 at the working place, including compulsory body temperature
checks, mandatory wearing of a surgical face mask, limit the visitor to
access our office.

Development and Training

The Group is aware of the importance of continuous development and
updates of relevant laws and regulations. Employees, especially those
who are involved in regulated businesses and activities, have to receive
continuous professional training including on-the-job training, in-house
regular meetings and training programs organized by professional
bodies to keep abreast of the latest market practices and matters
relating to our daily job duties. In-house regular meetings and training
are tailor-made by directors and senior management which covered the
key aspects as follows:

(1) Compliance and regulatory — general compliance, market and
regulatory updates, prevention of bribery, bankruptcy laws, data
privacy, the Money Lender’s Ordinance;

(2) Management skills and personal development — leadership
skills, supervisory skills, KPI setting, communication and
interpersonal skills, creative thinking and problem solving skills,
self-development skills; and

(3) General training - language skills, computer skills, debt
collection skills and customer service skills.
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Employees are encouraged to attend seminars and read prescribed
periodicals to update the industry and regulatory latest developments
for their continuing competence; and professional employees
are required to comply with continuous professional training and
examination requirements as stipulated in relevant regulations.

During the year ended 31t March, 2021, a total of 17 hours of meetings
(2020: 17 hours) and training have been provided by directors and
senior management and the average training hour per employee was
approximately 9 hours (2020: 9 hours).

Labour Standard

Child or forced labour are prohibited in our Group’s operation which
was in compliance with the Employment of Children Regulations,
made under the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57). To avoid such
practices happened in our Group, our human resources department is
responsible to check the resume, original identification card and other
certificates of new jointers and potential candidates in order to eliminate
the possibility of child and forced labour in our employment. Human
resources department also communicate with the candidates’ preceded
employment for verification purposes.

During the year ended 31t March, 2021, the Group had nil
non-compliance cases in relation to the violation of relevant child labour
and forced labour laws (2020: nil).

Supply Chain Management

Due to the nature of principal business activities, we have no major
suppliers. The Group'’s suppliers include various computer system
and software vendors, providers of market information, legal advisers
and other business services professionals. The procurement decision
is based on criteria such as price, reputation, track record of high
corporate standards, expertise, capacity, creditability, business stability
and product/service quality which we consider such would not pose
significant social risks for our business. In order to minimize possible
disruptions of supply chain, our management from different departments
maintained a close dialogue with the suppliers. We also expect that our
suppliers are of high quality and operate in compliance with applicable
local environmental laws, ordinances and regulations.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &t H 4 WA A)
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Services Responsibility

The business activities of the Group are required to comply with the
rules and regulations of various regulators in Hong Kong such as Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Commission. The Group is responsible to comply with the
requirements of the rules and regulations in Hong Kong relating to our
services responsibility as below:

J Code of Conducts for Persons Licensed by or Registered with
the Securities and Future Commission

o Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”)

. Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules

o Securities and Futures (Client Money) Rules

o Securities and Futures (Client Securities) rules

o Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
(Financial Institutions) Ordinance

o Drug Trafficking (Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinance

. Organised and Serious Crimes Ordinance

o United Nations (Anti-Terrorism Measures) Ordinance

The Group provides loan and margin financing to individuals and
corporates in Hong Kong. Corporate structured loans, mortgage loan,
consumer finance and small business loans are provided through
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group operates under the Money
Lenders’ Ordinance (“MLQ”), being licensed money lenders. The Group
also provides margin financing to our clients through another wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group operate under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFQO”), being licensed margin financier. During the year,
our Group had no known cases of non-compliance with the above laws
or regulations.

In Hong Kong, both the MLO and SFO focuses on borrowers’ rights
as well as lenders’ practices. The Compliance and Risk Steering
Committee of our Group regularly review of the update of the code of
practice and relevant regulations to make sure compliance in various
business aspects such as customer relationship, know-your-client,
anti-money laundering, credit valuation, collection and recovery and
data privacy.
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We emphasize the importance of providing quality services to
our clients. All operational departments are responsible for the
implementation of the established policies and procedures based on
the internal control manuals set out by the Group. The internal control
manuals of our Group contain guidelines and implementation plans to

ensure:

. conduct business in an orderly and efficient manner;

o protect the security of the assets for the Group and our clients;

o maintain proper records and ensure reliability of financial
information and other information used by the Group;

J prevent and detect potential fraud; and

o comply with all applicable laws and regulatory requirements.

The directors and compliance officer are responsible for overseeing
the day-to-day operations of departments and ensuring that the internal
control procedures are followed. In case of any complaint received from
our clients either verbally or in writing, the compliance department will
review such complaint to ensure that they are handled in a prompt and
appropriate manner. Our customer services hotline is set up to handle
complaints from clients. All valid complaints will be recorded monthly
by the compliance department. During the year ended 31t March, 2021,
we have received nil complaints from our clients (2020: nil).

Our Group emphasizes on the importance of protecting privacy of our
clients in the collection, processing and use of their personal data
and is committed to the compliance of the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance and other relevant codes of practice issued by the Privacy
Commissioner for Personal Data.

We have a contractual obligation to protect information of our clients as
stated in the account opening agreements and treat their transactions
record and personal information as private and confidential, subject
to the disclosure requirements under the relevant laws, rules and
regulations.

During the year ended 31t March 2021, we have received nil

complaints from our clients relating to the violation of the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance (2020: nil).

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &t H 4 WA A)
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Anti-corruption/Anti-money Laundering

Our Group fully cooperate with the international drive against services
crime, drug trafficking and terrorism and is committed to assist
the authorities to identify money laundering and terrorist financing
transactions. We strict adhere to the applicable laws and rules in the
anti-money laundering and terrorist financing, including but not limited
to Drug Trafficking (Recovery of Proceed) Ordinance, Organised and
Serious Crimes Ordinance, Guideline on Anti-Money Laundering and
Counter-Terrorist Financing, and United Nation (Anti-Terrorism Measure)
Ordinance.

Our Group has implemented an effective whistle blower policy for
reporting fraud and corruption. We encourage employees to report
on suspected business irregularities and provide clear channels
specifically for this purpose. During the year ended 315 March, 2021, no
significant risks relating to corruption had been identified. There were
no confirmed incidents in relation to corruption or public legal cases
brought against the Group or its employees. Also, no whistle-blowing
concerning a criminal offence or misconduct was received during the
year (2020: nil).

Community Investment

Our Group promotes social contribution of our member companies
to the local communities in which they operate, and attach much
importance to cultivating a sense of social responsibility among our
employees and encourage them to make better contributions to our
communities during and after work.
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ESG Issues as set forth in ESG Reporting Guide

(RE

CHERERRERESDAAENER

HEREREE

Reference
section/ Remark Comply or Explain

SEEEH /B BTARE

jEixE

A. Environmental Issues A. IR &

A1 Emissions Information on: Environment Complied
A1 ) (a) the policies; and issues 248
(b) compliance and material non-compliance IREZE
with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous wastes, etc.
EHRBRIAEREHEN - KR THEHS  AERE
EREYMHELZH
(a) % &
(b) BEFRBEERHETABEAZENEREE A
REEH
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data.  Emissions Complied
B R R IRAT1 B R KA BB - 7387 BE#R

KPI A1.2
FRERIEIRAL2

Greenhouse gas emissions in total, and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
BERBRASNE (WER) RAE (MABEEEM -
BEREAE) °

Greenhouse gas Complied
emissions BEE#R

B E R B

KPI A1.3
FRAMIEIRALS

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

FRELBERENEE CANGE) (ER) KBE (M
BEE8M  BERKMTE)

Waste generation Explained
was considered B2
insignificant.

BELELBERY -

KPI A1.4
SR MIETRAL 4

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit production
volume, per facility).
FRESXAERELE (UEE) (ER) REE (e
EEBN - BEIMITE)

Waste generation Explained
was considered B E
insignificant.

BEVELERY -

KPI A1.5
BRI RALS

Description of measures to mitigate emissions and
results achieved.

HRBEERENEREAERR -

Waste generation Explained
was considered & R
insignificant.

EOELBEREY -
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ESG Issues as set forth in ESG Reporting Guide
(B HERERBREEIDAMBENRE HEREREE

t g K

Reference

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

-~ NN
B /A

H &

section/ Remark Comply or Explain

SEEEH,/H

g

A. Environmental Issues A. IREEE

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous Waste generation Explained
FARRIESIEIZEA1.6 wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results was considered E 72
achieved. insignificant.
HEBEEEREERENNGE REELENERE BELELEEEY -
PRSRR -
A2 Use of Resource Policies on efficient use of resources including energy, Efficient use of ~ Complied
A2 &R F A water and other raw materials. resources [SE=F:
BEHERER (BREER  KREMRMEL) OBEK - BREREIR
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type Energy and Complied
R B BIRIZEA2.A (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) resources BEE8
and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per consumption.
facility). B R ERE
BRERESMERRKEEER (WS Kokh) 51
BUATETREFHE) KRE (NMAGEEEMN - 18R
MEEtE) o
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit Energy and Complied
A HIBIEAL.2 of production volume, per facility). resources =g
BRKEREE (WABESEN  FERXETE) - consumption.
B R M ERE #E
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and Energy used in  Explained
R ERIERA2.3 results achieved. operation was £ R
AL R AT B RFT RN R © insignificant.
REREERE A
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water Explained

BREMIEIRA2.4

water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives
and results achieved.

W ERERKR LA A EMERE - ARRABKB G
EIRPRABR -

consumption was . f# &

insignificant.

FKEER -
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R B >

g kR E AR B &

ESG Issues as set forth in ESG Reporting Guide
(R5 - HERERAREESDAMBNRE - HERERZE

Reference

section/ Remark Comply or Explain

SEEEH /B BTARE

2z 1 g

A. Environmental Issues A. =15 &

KPI A2.5
FRARIEIRA25

Total packaging material used for finished products (in
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.

Packaging Explained
materials used in

operation were

HkmAAERMHNEE (UWEFE) R (NER) &84  insignificant.
EEfEE - M B B
HED
A3 The Environment and Policies on minimizing the operation’s significant Efficient use of  Complied
Natural Resources  impact on the environment and natural resources. resources BEER
A3 RERRRER HEXBEHHRERRARERERNEATENRK - BARERER
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on  Impacts of Explained
AR 4E BB IZAS.1 the environment and natural resources and the actions activities on the E 72
taken to manage them. environment and
HRHRERRRBRNEATERCEKMEEYEH natural resources
e o were insignificant.
REPHRERK
RERHTERED
A4 Climate Change Policies on identification and mitigation of significant Climate change Complied
Ad RIEE L climate-related issues which have impacted, and those  risk [SR=)
which may impact, the issuer. RizE(LER
AR EHEERAIGEEHETAEETYENERAK
EEEERBE -
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues Climate change Complied
BB 4E B 1Z A4 A which have impacted, and those which may impact, risk 2AH

the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
HOEER R EHBETAEERN ENEARKEASE
" REHTEH -

RRRILER
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ESG Issues as set forth in ESG Reporting Guide
(RE - HERERAREEIDAMANRE - HERERZE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

#*t 8 R § A

H &

Reference
section/ Remark Comply or Explain

SEZEH /B BETFABRE

B. Social Issues

B. 1 #i88

B1 Employment
B1 [B(®

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.
BHEMREE BERER  TENE - B #eT
B RIBARA R EMEFB KRB

BER R
BTHBETAREAZENRBZERZRERNER

i @t

A

=S =

b

=

Employment Complied
FE BEaR

B2 Health and Safety
B2 @ERELR 2

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance and material non-compliance with
relevant standards, rules and regulations on
providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.

FHARMZE2TERERREEI#ERENEEN

(@) B :+ &

(b) BT REBEEREBED  RAURRGIEEH -

Health and Safety Complied
REER [RAS P

B3 Development and
Training
B3 #R KIEF

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills
for discharging duties at work. Description of training
activities.
BRARABEIRTIERENNBNRENBR « 65
EE o

Development and Complied
Training BE&#

BRI

B4 Labour Standard
B4 4 T %8|

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance and material non-compliance with
relevant standards, rules and regulations on
preventing child or forced labour.

B EE T osam 55 TH)

(a) B+ &

(b) BT RBEEREBER  RAURKOIHEFR -

Labour Standard Complied
LT AR BEER
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B R -~ £ 8 kR B B &K &

ESG Issues as set forth in ESG Reporting Guide
(R5 - HERERAREESDAMBNRE - HERERZE

Reference
section/ Remark Comply or Explain
2ELH /B EIREE

B. Social Issues

B. H & &R

B5 Supply Chain

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of

Supply Chain Complied

Management supply chain. Management 24318
B5 fitpEHEE % B M EENIRE R SRR o HERERE
B6 Product Responsibility Information on: Services Complied
B6 EmA(E (a) the policies; and Responsibility A1
(b) compliance and material non-compliance with fRIEEF

relevant standards, rules and regulations on health
and safety, advertising, labelling and matters
relating to products and services provided and
methods of redress.
FRMRHERNBRBOERERS  BE  RREEMN
R A
(a) B &
(b) B REBEEREBER  RARROIHEFR -

B7 Anti-corruption

Information on:

Anti-corruption/  Complied

B7 K& (a) the policies; and Anti-money B =g
(b) compliance and material non-compliance with  Laundering
relevant standards, rules and regulations on KBS/ REE
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
BED LW 9% REFRERE
(a) BE : &
(b) BFRBEEEREEED  RAURKROIHOEH -
B8 Community Policies on community engagement to understand the ~ Community Complied
[nvestment community’'s needs where it operates and to ensure Investment 2Ee&#
B8 (@I E&E its activities take into consideration communities’ #RIEE

interests.
ERNMEBEL2ERTHREENCHRRTERBREER
B EERMEMEHBUR -

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (X &£ H4 WA )



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS" REPORT

BT &3t E5% 0 H R A G
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Upbest Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 72 to 164, which comprise the
consolidated statements of financial position as at 31t March, 2021,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31t March,
2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

B Y % B OB R &

31/F, Gloucester Tower i

The Landmark i BR

11 Pedder Street BT 1195
Central b

Hong Kong HHELRE3 I

HEREEERATZERR
(RESHESEMAL A ERAA)

BR
ﬁiE%Vﬁ F72E E1
AE(ERAD R M% al (% %&}%fax
EJ) FAEPBRER RFMBHREER=
e Hmﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁi&
ALLFEEMERRER MR 2ENER  HFA
BaZ2PRIEARERM %M&FA%%ﬁE
Mt BRIZEGHEME -

JEMEREER

Q)

B

ZARR HAMBRRRBREECHMAE
([BEREGHMAG) Bz EERBREER
(BEMBREE) BEMALLRR BE
ER-—Z_—F=A=t—-RzZ&EaMBRR
FPEEZRLFEZGAMBRERERARE
nE YERBEBEARGIIZEBEREZ AR
ET

BEREXE
RARBEFEETMASRM 2B BENER
([BEEER])ETEZ - RANZFLERE
TZERERRSREMGAMBERRER L
BE— 8 — /hﬂ°ﬁﬁ@%§% AR AE
ZEXEEBEERTA ([T BYR &
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- BAIRA RAMESZERBREETRR
EEMARMANEAERREER

HRERER
AR ZSRDRERMF XA - SRR
AMBRRELIEMNERERIEEH -AFS

BIREMERE VSRR ETEREZI ML
HEARMZzERE TUEE BT H%ES
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Key audit matter
BRELEE

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

EMOARERTRERRERSR

Impairment assessment of interest-bearing receivables from loans and margin financing

KA 7 BB E A TR B E B W R R E RT

Refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.
FLHRAUBHRENTE =T -

As at 31%t March, 2021, the gross amounts of interest-bearing
receivables from loans and margin financing were approximately
HK$871,635,000 and HK$163,026,000 respectively. Accumulated
expected credit loss of approximately HK$132,269,000 and
HK$73,003,000 was provided for interest bearing receivables from loans
and margin financing respectively.

RZZE-_—F=A=+—H MENERKEFKRFRAERKFENE
85 Bl B #41871,635,0007% 7T . 163,026,0005% 7T » B 5 Al #t I 5 F 2 fE 1K
ERRAFRBE N R ELME SR R#132,269,0007% 7T }73,003,00078
T o

During the year ended 31t March, 2021, expected credit loss of
approximately HK$17,590,000 and HK$3,527,000 was provided for
interest-bearing receivables from loans and margin financing respectively.
BE-Z-_—F=A=+-BLEE HisMENSEREKERRITRR
EMEHEEEEAL17,590,000/% 7T }&.3,527,0007% Tt ©

Management applied judgment in assessing the expected credit
losses. Receivables relating to customers with known financial
difficulties or significant doubt on collection of receivables are assessed
individually for provision for impairment allowance. Expected credit
losses are also estimated by grouping the remaining receivables based
on shared credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed for
likelihood of recovery, taking into account the nature of the customer
and its ageing category, and applying expected credit loss rates to the
respective gross carrying amounts of the receivables. The expected
credit loss rates are determined based on historical credit losses
experienced and are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables.
EEREETAESGRBRRER 2 o EE %R 2 sk R IEK
FEEEARENTFABNEKSASEBIHAEER BHEES
BTeRBEAZEERBREBERREKFBEETHAM  ZREPE
ERERREN BREHEERAEERANES ENREAHE  WHEHKRA
B ETEBAAREETE  BHREERAXIREMEENELEES
BEE  KHBEUARME %%ﬁﬁ1fwm BN E AT R AT LB RS -

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )

Our procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment of interest-bearing
receivables from loans and margin financing
included, but were not limited to:
ZMREBEUMAMNEBRUERRTRAEE
BREETRERGENEFEBHRENRR |

o Understanding and validating the
credit control procedures performed
by management, including its
procedures on periodic review of
aged receivables and assessment on
expected credit losses allowance of
receivables;

. TRANBEERERTHEEERRR -
a%i%%EEW%mm&FﬂE%%

FREBEEBRB BTG,

o Testing on a sample basis, the
accuracy of ageing profile of the
receivables by checking to the
underlying agreements;

o BB S AR 9 MH*E%LﬁM
A MEMEEEE ST RREEK
%Emﬁm%ﬁmﬁﬁ&

. Testing on a sample basis, the
subsequent settlement of the receivables
against bank receipts;

o MMTETLﬁMﬁ'%é%ZFWM
THH)ERIT IR R

o Obtaining management’s assessment
on the expected credit losses
allowance of the receivables. Checking
management’'s assessment based
on the historical settlement pattern,
correspondence with the customers,
evidence from external sources
including the relevant public search
results relating to the financial
circumstances of the relevant customers
and market research regarding the
relevant forward-looking information
used in management’s assessment;

. ESEREEHRKENERERERE
EEAE - REE L &ERA - RS
BE  NBRRMER - BREEEERTP
%M%#%ﬁ%%ﬁ%@ﬁ&éi%u
KBRS A AR R AT S B
MHAR  BEEREARME

I]\\FD



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS" REPORT

Key audit matter
BRELEE

B Y % B OB R &

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BAMARERT EEREERSH

Impairment assessment of interest-bearing receivables from loans and margin financing (Continued)

BB 7 S B R E AN R BB FB KR AV BB R A4 (&)

Va‘luati‘qn of investment properties
BREMEZGE
Refer to Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

F2HEA M RRM E7 -

Management has estimated the fair value of the Group’s investment
properties to be approximately HK$1,601,100,000 as at 31t March,
2021 with a net loss on fair value changes for the year ended 31¢
March, 2021 recorded in the consolidated income statement of
approximately HK$40,900,000. Independent external valuations were
obtained in respect of all of the portfolio of the Group.

EEERGEER T —F=A=+_HARENENRABHNR
1,601,100,0008 T - RBE_Z_—F=A=+—-HIFEHFaRIXTD
@g@x@@%EWMQWOW%E°%.%ﬁ&ﬁ@Aﬂﬁgﬁﬁ%E

We identified valuation of the Group’s investment properties as a key
audit matter because of the significance of investment properties
to the Group’s consolidated financial statements and because the
determination of the fair values involves significant judgment and
estimation, including selecting the appropriate valuation methodology
and market data.

BARREERBYENMELAEREREE RAAREMEUEELR
EUBRRIEENRAABIREESEANAB R  OEEES
ARG RERTIRER

o Examining the underlying documentation
supporting the value of the collateral, if
any, and the management’s key estimations
used in the individual impairment assessment
for these loans and receivables on a
sample basis; and

. FoxHARmEECRAER (W)
&ﬁE@FﬁLM&M&EWAE“%
Qfgﬁ%%%Z@ﬁﬁﬁ AT RO
L

o Reviewing the fair value of collateral
for all impaired amounts.

. RAEREHR  FEERRZAAE-

We considered management’s conclusion to
be consistent with the available information.
KRMRREEENGEREREAEE B -

Our procedures in relation to management’s
valuation of investment properties included,
but were not limited to:

%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ@%&ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ@%@$

o Evaluating the independent external
valuers’ competence, capabilities and
objectivity;

. 5T SN R T AR R 2 BRBE BRI
Bl

o Assessing the methodologies used

and the appropriateness of the key
assumptions and parameters based on
our knowledge of the property industry
and using our audit valuation experts;
and

. BERMEEMETRONERERAR
PIRET AT AR (AT EE AV A % - R
RBEMB2HNEE 1 A

. Checking, on sample basis, the
accuracy and relevance of the input
data used.

. DAt 7 2 & BT F 8 A BUB ) £ TR 1
FABRAME

We find the methods, key assumptions and
judgements, and data used in the valuation of
investment properties and the measurement
basis adopted for investment properties were
supported by the available evidence.

BB PORERTHPIERN S FERZ KA
BT PFER AN IR EME BT AIERNHIENRE
MEFEER KA RERIS -

Annual Report 2021 4E§#

67



63

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT
B Y % B B ® &

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS” REPORT

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design, and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

B Y % B OB R &

REMBGSRBBRELZER
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

J Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS" REPORT

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters, that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Yu Chi Fat.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yu Chi Fat
Practising Certificate Number: P05467

Hong Kong, 25" June, 2021

B Y % B OB R &
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

= & W &=

For the year ended 31st March, 2021 B E_F -4 =H=+—HIL4EE

Notes 2021 2020

(In HK$'000) (LB T B Ef7) Bt 5E —E-—F —T-EF
Revenue g 8 119,221 174,831
Other revenue H oWz 2,407 884
Expected credit loss of UHREERBEEBE

financial assets, net FE 9 (13,176) (81,770)
Net decrease in fair value of investment #®REMEAAREZ

properties HRE 17 (40,900) (44,000)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and  H&EWE « KER KRG

equipment EEZEH = 1,455
Administrative and other operating THREEMEERS

expenses (26,332) (27,066)
Finance costs MEKR 10 (6,357) (9,355)
Share of results of an associate FE(REE & N El 2 24 22,486 (2,7086)
Profit before taxation ¥ % A o A 11 57,349 62,273
Income tax expenses Prg MR < 14 (11,161) (15,872)
Profit for the year F N4 F 46,188 46,401
Attributable to: et

Owners of the Company ZiN/NETEZ 2SN 46,227 47,738

Non-controlling interests FEE IR R o (39) (1,337)

46,188 46,401

Proposed final dividend BIKRERE 15 26,823 26,823
Earnings per share BRIER

Basic and diluted (HK cents) EARREE (B 13 1.7 1.8

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

= & 2 @E W &#& =

For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

2021 2020
(In HK$°000) (LB T B #17) —E-—-F —ETTF
Profit for the year FREA 46,188 46,401
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Htv2mEWE (FE)
Item that may be reclassified BEE AR ER IR
subsequently to profit or loss BmlEEH
Exchange differences arising on BREBINEEEEY
translation of foreign operations ME N =% 3,337 (2,530)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) 2EHMEEKE(BE)
for the year, net of tax (B&FE) 3,337 (2,530)
Total comprehensive income for FR2ERRLHE
the year 49,525 43,871
Attributable to: FEfh :
Owners of the Company ZiN/NGIE 2PN 49,564 45,208
Non-controlling interests FEE RS (39) (1,337)
49,525 43,871

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= e B B KR R R

As at 31st March, 2021 R -2 - —4=H=+—H

Notes 2021 2020
(In HK$'000) (LB T B Ef7) Bt 5E —E-—F —T-EF
Non-current assets *RBEE
Property, plant and equipment ERE: Y 8 16 939 988
Investment properties "EME 17 1,601,100 1,642,000
Intangible assets BREE 18 2,040 2,040
Interests in an associate REE RN R 2 R 19 59,852 34,029
Trade receivables 2 5 WA 20 72,669 122,105
Other assets HEMEE 21 3,400 3,400
Deferred tax assets BIERTHE E 14 2,198 2,592
1,742,198 1,807,154
Current assets REBEE
Inventories TE 22 - 18
Properties held for development RBIERRERME 23 3,011 3,011
Trade and other receivables, deposits B 5 & H e W kA
and prepayments e RIEMNZIE 20 904,503 946,826
Tax recoverable AT U [B] B 30 2,377 1,018
Bank balances and cash RITHEHR LR S 24 816,192 480,212
1,726,083 1,431,085
Current liabilities nEAE
Borrowings &k 25 263,353 283,655
Amounts due to related parties JE 1 B A £ 5008 26 264 697
Amount due to the ultimate holding JRE B X P R 1 B 3K
company 27 200,362 188,839
Creditors and accrued expenses FENERNENER 28 345,972 119,117
Provision for taxation TR s 2,537 12,840
812,488 605,148
Net current assets RBEEFE 913,595 825,937
Net assets BETME 2,655,793 2,633,091

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= & B B KR R R

As at 31st March, 2021 -2 - —4=H=+—H

Notes 2021 2020

(In HK$'000) (LB T B #17) Bt —E_—F —T-EF
Capital and reserves EXRKf#E
Share capital N 29 26,824 26,824
Reserves 1 2,603,358 2,580,617
Proposed dividend Bk BB 15 26,823 26,823
Equity attributable to owners of the AR NELE RS

Company 2,657,005 2,634,264
Non-controlling interests FEIERER (1,212) (1,173)
Total equity EREE 2,655,793 2,633,091

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 25" June, 2021 and are signed on its
behalf by:

Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew
R

Executive Director

HITEE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.

HEMBRAEREETER _F-_—F /1A
STRAREREERERETHESARSE
=

Cheng Wai Ling, Annie
BER
Executive Director

HITEF

BRI BRI ERA HIBRROEKED -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

Attributable to owners of the Company

EEALAIEEA
Non-
Share Share Contributed Translation ~ Retained  Proposed controlling Total
capital  premium surplus reserve profits  dividend Total interests equity
(In HK$'000) (LB TFrAEL) Bx  REE EHER  EXGR  REEW  RRRR B FERER  BRAE
As at 1 April, 2019 RZE-NERA-A 26,824 304,284 8,515 (3,069) 2,262,502 53,646 2,642,702 164 2,642,866
Profit(loss) for the year EREFH/ (BR) - - - - 47,738 - 47738 (1,337) 46,401
Other comprehensive loss AEREMZERE
for the year - - - (2,530) - - (2,530) - (2530)
Total comprehensive income/ KERERE/ (BR)EE
(loss) for the year - - - (2,530) 47,738 - 45,208 (1,337) 43871
Dividend paid EftfRE - - - = - (53646)  (53646) - (53646)
Proposed final dividend REXSERE = = = - (68%) 26,823 - - -
As at 31 March, 2020 and 1 April, 2020 R=Z-Z%=f=1-H
k-E-ZEWA-H 26,824 304,284 8,515 (5599) 2273417 26,823 2,634,264 (1173) 2,633,091
Pralfit/(loss) for the year Engil/ (ER) L = - - 46,207 - 46,207 (39) 46,188
Other comprehensive income AEREMEZENE
for the year - - - 3,337 - - 3,337 - 3,337
Total comprehensive income/ AE2ENE/ (FiE) 28
(loss) for the year - - - 3,337 46,227 - 49,564 (39) 49,525
Dividend paid EfffRE - - - - - (6823 (26,8%) - (6829)
Proposed final dividend BERARS - - - - (26,823) 26,823 - - -
As at 31 March, 2021 R-E--F=A=+-H 26,824 304,284 8,515 (2262) 2,292,821 26,823 2,657,005 (1212) 2,655,793

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated  14KiBf B REN T A S GBI ERERNBEK LS o
financial statements.

76 UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 H 4 W A #)



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= a8 B 2 R B *

For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &R E _F _~—4E=H =+—H IL4EE

Notes 2021 2020
(In HK$'000) (BB T T B EfL) HiE —E-—F —TEF
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REXBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation B 75 Al 4= 57,349 62,273
Adjustments for: BT &IBEELAE
Finance costs BE R AR 10 6,357 9,355
Depreciation e 11 87 141
Expected credit loss of financial assets, net ~ MK EEHEEHEERER
#E 9 13,176 31,770
Decrease in fair value of investment BRENERNREZEFRE
properties 17 40,900 44,000
Share of results of an associate iy NI (22,486) 2,706
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME  #ERHRE
equipment BT £ 2 5% A - (1,455)
Operating cash flows before working RITEEESEHA
capital changes 2R A 95,383 148,790
Decrease in inventories BE 2D 18 2
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other ZHNHEMEWTE  Re Rk
receivables, deposits and prepayments ERZEZRL/(3EM) 78,583 (807,463)
Decrease in other assets HthEE 2R = 2,000
Increase in trust and segregated accounts EAEEPHEERFO&FEE
included in bank balances RIRTTEEBR 238 1D (231,396) (30,516)
Increase/(decrease) in unsecured other IR EMERZ
borrowing @,/ Chd) 2,273 (318)
Decrease in amounts due to related parties JE 15 B BSE A £ 3B 2R A (433) (577)
Increase in amount due to the ultimate R R AR R B 5RIB 2
holding company # N 11,523 22,044
Increase in creditors and accrued expenses  JE{TFRIB R e B F 2 1840 226,855 42,561
Cash generated from/(used in) operations EE(KEL(EA)2HE 182,806 (123,477)
Interest paid for other borrowing arising from BN E4£BRX S ELDN
precious metal trading H b {8 5K F 8 (145) (149)
Hong Kong profits tax paid B BEFEH (22,179) (17,548)
Overseas tax paid BRI (250) F
Net cash generated from/(used in) REERELE/ (BRA)Z
operating activities BeFE 160,232 (141,174)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= a8 B 2 R B X

For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£~ %

CEVESSNNEE

Notes 2021 2020

(In HK$'000) (LB T B Ef) i —E-—F —T-EF
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZBZRERE

ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME MREREE 16 (38) (64)
Proceed on disposal of property, plant and HEDE KRR RED

equipment P15 3K - 1,455
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing REZE (EA) E4X 2

activities RERE (38) 1,391
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RMETHZEERE

ACTIVITIES
Dividend paid ERKE (26,823) (53,646)
Interest paid for bank borrowing BRRTETF A (6,212) (9,206)
Repayment of bank borrowing 1%‘ EIRTTIE K (22,575) (18,796)
Proceeds from bank borrowing TERHFBER - 300,000
Net cash (used in)/generated from BMEED (ER) EEZ

financing activities ReFE (55,610) 218,352
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH BeRREeZEBY2F

EQUIVALENTS byl 104,584 78,569
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FORERAEZEEN

BEGINNING OF YEAR 386,934 308,365
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT ERZRERAEZEEN

THE END OF THE YEAR 491,518 386,934
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RERRE2EBWER

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2D
Cash in hand, non-pledged short-term e EEHRRBTEREK

deposits and general accounts included —RIRITP D&

in bank balances 24 491,518 386,934

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= & B B | & KM

For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

GENERAL

Upbest Group Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with its shares
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of its registered office is P.O. Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. The
principal place of business is 2" Floor, Wah Kit Commercial
Centre, 300 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.

As at the date of this report, CCAA Group Limited held direct
interests in 1,992,721,496 (2020: 1,992,721,496) shares of the
Company, representing approximately 74.29% (2020: 74.29%) of
the issued share capital of the Company.

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of a wide
range of financial services including securities broking, futures
broking, securities margin financing, money lending, corporate
finance advisory, assets management, properties investment and
precious metal trading.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional currency of
the Company. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(“HK$'000"), except when otherwise indicated.

BLR

ZREEERRR ((ARA]) HRFEE
HEAMRUIZEREELR AR &
BRORBEBRAERZMERRA ([BR
Frl) BT e KRR Z Mt AP.O. Box
309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands - EX B &%
WEAI R BB EEHETI00REABTED L
218

RAREETH 2 B * CCAA Group Limited
HEEAARA,992721,496/ (ZF =
T4 :1,092,721,496/%) * HIEARAREE
TRAZ74.29% (Z T —F4F : 74.29%) °

ARAMTIBEBRREER - HMBEQ
ACEREGRRHEZEESRRY
BREFEL  HRRL  BFFERE -
ERmE CEMEER BEEE Fit
ERENESEBEE -

A aMBHREABT (DET]) 25 - &
ARRIZYEEEER - BRABHE - A
AREHNEAIAZKEANTL ([TE
JLl) e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= e B B | Xk K O

For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and
the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the current year for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
(Amendments)

Definition of Material

HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Definition of a Business

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and
HKFRS 7 (Amendments)

Interest rate Benchmark Reform

The application of the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRSs standards and amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has no material impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 H 4 W A #)

FBREETEEMBEHREEL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and

amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 17

HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,

HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16
(Amendments)

HKFRS 3 (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKAS 1 (Amendments)

HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 (Amendments)

HKAS 8 (Amendments)
HKAS 12 (Amendments)
HKAS 16 (Amendments)
Amendments to HKAS 37
(Amendments)

Accounting Guideline 5
(Revised)

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments'
COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions*

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond
30" June, 2021

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture®

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2°

Reference to the Conceptual Framework?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020°

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)'

Disclosure of Accounting Policies'

Definition of Accounting Estimates'

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transactions'

Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds
before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract?

Merger Accounting for Common Control
Combinations?

= a

For the year ended 31st March,

M %
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= e B B | Xk K O

For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1t January, 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1t January, 2022.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1%t June, 2020.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1t January, 2021.

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1t April, 2021.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
the new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 4 45 R 2 #])
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS, which collective term includes
all applicable HKFRSs, HKAS and Interpretations issued by
the HKICPA and accounting principals generally accepted
in Hong Kong. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is considered
material if such information is reasonably expected to
influence decisions made by primary users. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosure required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain properties and
financial assets that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’'s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so
that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as

follows:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation
techniques for which all inputs which have a
significant effect on the recorded fair value are
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation

techniques for which all inputs which have a
significant effect on the recorded fair value are not
based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary or an
associate represents the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the relevant subsidiary
or associate at the date of acquisition. Such goodwill is
carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary
is presented separately in the consolidated statement
of financial position. Capitalised goodwill arising on an
acquisition of an associate (which is accounted for using the
equity method) is included in the cost of the investment of the
relevant associate.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(c) Goodwill (Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, and
whenever there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that financial
year. When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the
impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other
assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised directly in the consolidated income statement. An
impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary or an associate, the
attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Excess of an acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of an
acquirer’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost (“discount on acquisitions”).

A discount on acquisition arising on an acquisition of a
subsidiary represents the excess of the net fair value of
an acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities attribute to the Group over the cost of the business
combination. Discount on acquisition is recognised, after
reassessment, immediately in the consolidated income
statement. A discount on acquisition arising on an acquisition
of an associate or a joint venture is included as income
in the determination of the investor’s share of results of
the associate or joint venture in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ERSTHRHME(E)
(Continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (d) 9% HKERERE

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the assets to working condition and location
for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of
property, plant and equipment have been put into operation,
such as repairs and maintenance and overhaul cost, is
normally charged to the consolidated income statement in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where it can
be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted
in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to
be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and
equipment, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional
cost of the asset.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost or fair value of
items of property, plant and equipment over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method, at the following
rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings Over the remaining terms

of the leases
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15% — 30%
Motor vehicles 15% — 30%

Ownership interests in leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for
as an operating lease is presented as ‘right-of-use assets”
(upon application of HKFRS 16) in the consolidated statement
of financial position except for those that are classified and
accounted for as investment properties under the fair value
model. When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest
in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the
consolidated income statement in the year in which the item is
derecognised.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ERSHBEMEE)
(Continued)
(e) Investment properties (e) REME

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation (including properties under
construction for such purposes). Investment properties are
initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude
any prepaid or accrued operating lease income. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of
the investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from
use or no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included
in the consolidated income statement in the year in which the
item is derecognised.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 H 4 W A #)
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(®)

Associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant
influence, but not control or joint control, over its
management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale). Under
the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at
cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the
acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net
assets over the cost of the investment (if any). Thereafter,
the investment is adjusted for the post acquisition
change in the Group’s share of the investee’'s net assets
and any impairment loss relating to the investment. Any
acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and
any impairment losses for the year are recognised in the
consolidated income statement, whereas the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the associates’ other
comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For
this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of
the investment under the equity method together with the
Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in the consolidated income statement.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as disposal of the entire interest
in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee
at the date when significant influence is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9

(h)

Intangible assets

On initial recognition, intangible assets acquired are
recognised at cost. After initial recognition, intangible
assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
are recognised in the consolidated income statement when
the asset is derecognised.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually by comparing their carrying amounts
with their recoverable amounts, irrespective of whether there
is any indication that they may be impaired. If the recoverable
amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there is an indication that an asset may be
impaired.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost includes cost of purchase computed using the
first-in-first-out method. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to the sales proceeds of items sold in the ordinary
course of business after the end of the reporting period
or to management estimates based on prevailing market
conditions.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

U]

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value, except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL")) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(i) Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other

comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting

contractual cash flows and selling; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive income if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations

applies.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )

3.

EXREHRBE(A)
(i) £WMIE#E)
HHBEEE

HBEEEZDERKEEE

7 TR R R B 8
A E

s RAMBEENEBRANBRE
RERSHORERE R

o BHBFREERHMELAZER
XNAERAREERE B
REM -

A TIRFOMBEEERERERAA
EREMEEBEIIE(TAARERE
e mB IR :

s RAMBEEMEHEANBR
AAEERSORESRREE
53

o BHBFREERHMELZER
XNAERAEEREHFEH
BEM -

AERMMBEEERREZAABRE
aRIE ERERERBE,/ B
BEBRERAH  mMBERENE
RIEEE  MFRBMBRERRES
RERBEFERNEHAMHTRES
RERNAARE  AEEA AT HE
WEERZBERERAENRER
PREMEAKEZT -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£~ &

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

U]

assets (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial

asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost

or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit impaired.
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3.

AEZH = A H IR

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(ii)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit loss (“ECL”) on financial assets which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL
is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”)
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m
ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, in which case, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(i) Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£~ %

3.

AEZH = A H IR

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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3.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

(i)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present
value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder
for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or
any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the
effective interest rate cannot be determined, the Group
will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks
that are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the
extent that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting
the discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls
being discounted.

Lifetime ECL for certain margin financing,
interest-bearing receivables from loans are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past
due information and relevant credit information such as
forward looking macroeconomic information.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception for trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

U]

1)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including creditors and accrued expenses,
borrowings, amounts due to related parties and amount due
to the ultimate holding company are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Properties held for development

Properties held for development are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is
determined by reference to sale proceeds received after
the end of the reporting period less selling expenses, or
by management estimates based on prevailing market
conditions.

Costs of properties include acquisition costs, development
expenditure, interest and other direct costs attributable
to such properties. The carrying values of properties held
by subsidiaries are adjusted in the consolidated financial
statements to reflect the Group’s actual acquisition costs
where appropriate.

Properties held for development included in the current
assets are expected to be realised, or is intended for sales in
the Group’s normal operation cycle.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(k) Taxation

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before taxation
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(k) Taxation (Continued)

U]

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period in when the liability is settled or the
asset realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale, except for freehold land, which
is always presumed to be recovered entirely through sale.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
these assets until such times as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing cost eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the consolidated
income statement in the period in which they are incurred.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(m) Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the Group’s
entities that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(a) assets and liabilities for each of the statement
of financial position presented are translated at
the closing rates at the date of that statement of
financial position;

(b) income and expenses for each of the income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions); and

(c) the resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March,

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(n) Financial guarantees issued, provision and contingencies

(i)

(ii)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payments when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract
liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

o the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

e the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.

Provisions and contingencies

A provision is recognised when there is a present
obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past
event and it is probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed
regularly and adjusted to reflect the current best
estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money is
material, the amount of a provision is the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because
it is not probable that outflow of economic resources
will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is
disclosed in the note on the consolidated financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so the outflow is probable, it will then be
recognised as a provision.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(o) Revenue and other revenue

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

e  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group performs;
or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | R W &

For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ERESHBEME(E)
(Continued)

(0) Revenue and other revenue (Continued) (o) WEREAMUE (&)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year
or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other revenue
recognition policies are as follows:

Provision of trading services

The Group provides broking and dealing services for
securities, futures, options contracts and precious metal.
Commission income, brokerage income and service fee is
recognised at a point in time on the execution date of the
trades at a certain percentage of the transaction value of
the trades executed. Management and handling income is
recognised when the transaction is executed and service is
completed.

Provision of assets management and advisory services

The Group provides asset management and advisory services
to customers. The Group recognise the revenue over time
or at a point in time when the services are rendered in
accordance with contract terms. Asset management fee
income is charged at a fixed percentage per month of the net
asset value of the managed accounts under management of
the Group.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(o) Revenue and other revenue (Continued)

Provision of assets management and advisory services
(Continued)

The Group is also entitled to a performance fee when there is
a positive performance for the relevant performance period.
The performance fee is recognised at the end of the relevant
performance period, when there is highly probable that a
significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur once the uncertainty associated
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

Property management fee
The Group acts as a project coordinator for the property
developer.

Property management fee is recognised at a point in time
when the coordination service are completed.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | R W &

For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EARSTHERME(E)
(Continued)
(p) Leases (p) HE

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to lease office that have a lease term of 12 months or lease
from the commencement date and do not contain purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised
as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments and initially measured at fair value.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

(p)

(@)

Leases (Continued)

As a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating
to the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.

Related parties

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control of the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or a parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March,

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)
(q) Related parties (Continued)
An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

(b)

conditions applies:

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of a same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit or employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it

is a part, provides key management personnel

services to the Group or to a parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those

fam

ily members who may be expected to influence, or

be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

(r)

(s)

®

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash

management.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amount of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

Employees benefits

The Group participates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) which is
available to all employees. Contributions to the MPF Scheme
by the Group and its employees are calculated based on
a percentage of employees’ relevant income. The Group'’s
contributions to the fund are expensed as incurred and the
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administrated fund.

Payments to the Group’s MPF Scheme are charged to the
consolidated income statement as they fall due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

®)

()

Employees benefits (Continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries) after deducting any amount
already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value of
the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made
by the Group in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities'
carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that another HKFRS requires or permits their inclusion
in the cost of an asset.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and other assets to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and other assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication
that corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication
exists, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICES (Continued)

(u)

(v)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or the CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or CGU) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other revenue”.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based

on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,

management has made the following judgments, apart from those

involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the

amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= & B B | & KM

For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment loss on interest bearing receivables
from loan and margin financing

The Group makes impairment loss based on an assessment of
the recoverability of interest bearing receivables from loan and
margin financing. In determining whether impairment loss on
receivables is required, the Group takes into consideration the
current creditworthiness, the past collection history, age status
and likelihood of collection. Specific allowance is only made for
receivables that are unlikely to be collected and is recognised on
the difference between the estimated future cash flow expected to
receive discounted using the original effective interest rate and its
carrying amount. If the financial conditions of customers or debtors
of the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their
ability to make payments, additional allowance may be required.

Estimated fair value of investment properties

The fair values of investment properties are determined at the
end of the reporting period by an independent professional
valuer. Valuations were made on the basis of either, investment
approach by capitalising the net rental income receivable from the
existing tenancies and the reversionary rental income potentials,
and residual approach by referencing to its development potential
by deducting costs and developer’s profits from its estimated
completed development value. These methodologies are based
upon estimates of future results and a set of assumptions as
to income and expenses of the property and future economic
conditions.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be
able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return
to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity reserves
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising mainly issued
share capital, other reserves and retained profits.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Certain subsidiaries of the Group are regulated by the Securities
and Futures Commission (the “SFC”), and a subsidiary which
is a member of The Chinese Gold and Silver Exchange Society
(“CGSE"), they are required to comply with certain minimum capital
requirements according to the rules of the SFC and the CGSE.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends and new share issues.

As at 31t March, 2021, the amount of total borrowings was
approximately HK$263,353,000 (2020: HK$283,655,000). The
gearing being equal to approximately 9.9% (2020: 10.8%)
of the net assets of approximately HK$2,655,793,000 (2020:
HK$2,633,091,000).

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

EXEBEE (&)
AEBETHERAAXES RPEEKE
ZZEe((EEg) L—HMBAR AR
BREEHH((2REEH5]) CEEME
ARBEREENERERD
ETREEARENR

po—t
SN

5
B RAIEST

ARRESBFFENENGER - FHE
ARBEEZRE—HHEAKANAEHE
R AEEREESCRZEEREIR
BRETHRATHREELERS

7 #9263,353,0008 L (ZE =T & :
283,655,000 7L) c AELL XN B FE
= #)2,655,793,0008 L (ZE =T F :
2,633,091,000/ ) W 479.9% (=T =%
F:10.8%) °

BHIARDE
RBEESHREEMBTRZREENT -

2021 —EZ-F

Financial assets MEEE
Amortised
cost
(In HK$°000) (LB F T BE T) 85 A
Trade and other receivables and deposits B REMERFIBERIZS 975,053
Other assets Hi&E 3,400
Bank balances and cash RITEHRERE 816,192
1,794,645

Financial liabilities B%aE
Amortised
cost
(In HK$'000) (W BHF T BEM) s A
Borrowings A 263,353
Amounts due to related parties e BB A T FIA 264
Amount due to the ultimate holding company JE A B 48 45 IR R B SRIE 200,362
Creditors and accrued expenses ENFERENER 345,739
809,718

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Continued) 6. HBIESEE)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBRERRSEIETEZE@MAENT ¢
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (&)
(Continued)
2020 —T-TF
Financial assets %A E
Amortised
cost
(In HK$'000) (KBTI REN) B
Trade and other receivables and deposits B R EMmERZENMZE 1,066,695
Other assets Hi&E 3,400
Bank balances and cash RITEHR LIRS 480,212
1,550,307
Financial liabilities BBAE
Amortised
cost
(In HK$'000) (UGB F T B E17) AR
Borrowings B 283,655
Amounts due to related parties [ BB A L5008 697
Amount due to the ultimate holding company R RRER A RIFIE 188,839
Creditors and accrued expenses ERFERENER 118,942
592,133
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

7.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES
(a) Financial risk factors:

The Group’s major financial instruments comprise trade and
other receivables, deposits, other assets, bank balances and
cash, borrowings, amounts due to related parties, amount
due to the ultimate holding company and creditors and

accrued expenses.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency
risk. The Group's overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial

performance.

(i) Credit risk

The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the
risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts
in full when due. Impairment provisions are provided
for losses that have been incurred by the end of the
reporting period, if any. The Group is responsible for
monitoring the amount of credit exposure to any financial

institution.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to interest
bearing receivables from loan and margin financing.
Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an

ongoing basis.

Financing business

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approval and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken for the recoverable amount. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual’s loan receivables at the end of each
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. As at 31¢
March, 2021, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that provision for impairment of approximately
HK$187,979,000 (2020: HK$152,140,000) was
recognised on individual loans as credit impaired in
respect of these balances as the debtors were in the

process of liquidation.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 7.
POLICIES (Continued)
(a) Financial risk factors: (Continued)

PHEREEREREEK (&)

(a) MBEBREZE: (&)

(i) Credit risk (Continued) (i) EEREE (&)
Financing business (Continued) BBEEE(E)

The Group manages and analyses the credit risk
for each of their new and existing clients before
standard payment terms and conditions are offered.
If there is no independent rating, the Group assesses
the credit quality of the customer based on the
customer’s financial position, past experience and other
factors. The Group holds collateral against receivables
and interest receivables in the form of mortgages over
residential properties located in Hong Kong. Individual
risk limits are set based on the value of collaterals
provided by customers and internal or external ratings in
accordance with limits set by the directors.

In determining the ECL of the Group’s interest bearing
receivables from loan and margin financing, the
management assessed the expected losses individually
by estimation based on general economic conditions of
the relevant industry in which the debtors operate, value
of any pledged assets, financial position of the debtors
and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

As at 315t March, 2021, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as 17.33% (2020: 22.89%) and 53.18% (2020:
56.55%) of the total principal receivables from loan was
due from the Group’s largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively.

As at 31% March, 2021, the Group has concentration
of credit risk as 36.58% (2020: 45.14%) and 52.99%
(2020: 62.99%) of the total interest bearing receivables
from margin financing was due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers respectively.

The Group seeks to minimise its risk by dealing with
counter parties which have good credit history.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 7. BHEREEBEERBRK(Z)
POLICIES (Continued)
(a) Financial risk factors: (Continued) (@) BIBREBEZE: (&)
(i) Credit risk (Continued) () 1EEEE (&)

Financing business (Continued)

The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and average expected
loss rate for loan receivables from financing business
that are not credit-impaired under provision matrix for
the year ended 31 March, 2021 and 2020:

HHFE(E)

TR DEBE_T = —FM=
T_ZEZR=+-—HLEEE"
AEBUBEPETEREEE
MENBEEBERERNEE
R HEREEENE o

2021

Average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FiFa e E = HBEREE EERE
% HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
Btk BT T BT T
Current 7N A 0.64 488,313 3,112
0-90 days past due BEHTEATRK 15.51 5,563 863
493,876 3,975

2020

Average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TR R AEREE BiEEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
Bk BETT BET T
Current AN ER 1.13 580,258 6,586
0-90 days past due BHEZTENTK 14.34 123,112 17,660
703,370 24,246

The Group assesses allowance for credit losses on
margin financing individually based on historical credit
loss experience of the customers as well as the fair
value of the collateral pledged by the customers and
adjusted for forward-looking information. As at 31¢
March, 2021, the balance of allowance credit losses
in respect of margin financing were approximately
HK$13,318,000 (2020: HK$15,710,000).

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )

FEERBEEFHBTEEBE
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MARE BYUFEHFRBEN
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=t+—H BRAFRBENEE
IR AR R4 513,318,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March,

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)
(a) Financial risk factors: (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables

Other receivables relating to accounts that are long
overdue with significant amounts, known insolvencies or
non-response to collection activities, they are assessed
individually for impairment allowance.

Securities brokerage business

In order to manage the credit risk in the trade
receivables due from clients arising from business
dealing in securities, individual credit evaluations are
performed on all clients. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual receivable
at the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the credit risk is significantly reduced.

In respect of trade receivables from clearing houses,
credit risks are considered as low as the Group normally
enters into transactions with clearing houses which are
registered with regulatory bodies.

Other credit risks

In relation to the Group’s deposit with bank, the Group
limits its exposure to credit risk by placing deposits
with financial institution with high credit rating and no
recent history of default. The directors consider that the
Group’s credit risk on the bank deposits is low.

Quantitative information related to ECL assessment was
set out in Note 20.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability
of funding through an adequate amount of credit
facilities and the ability to close out market positions.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)
(a) Financial risk factors: (Continued)
(i) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. For
non-derivative financial liabilities, the table has been
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of the
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which

7. UBEABREEEEREEK(E)

(a) MBEBREE: (&)
(i) TEEZEE (E
TRFQG AEEOMBAE
ZAKEMSR - TR ZHER
EEBINEMBRBZIRTE
AHERBALEEFEERT
ZBH - TIRBERREAER

the Group can be required to pay. The table includes MEZBEERE o
both interest and principal cash flows.
Weighted Total
average Within One to Two to Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate oneyear  twoyears  fiveyears  fiveyears  cash flow amount
AR
(In HK$'000) (WEETTAER) — METHRE SR-F -BIf “RIf RENE ReREss REE
2021 “EC-F
Borrowings i 2.31% 32,352 27,622 82,869 135,847 278,690 263,353
Amounts due to R A LHE
related parties - 264 - - - 264 264
Amount due to the ullimate ~ JER & &2 Rk
holding company NAFBE - 200,362 - - - 200,362 200,362
Creditors and EMFHER
accrued expenses EfRER - 345,739 - - - 345,739 345,739
578,717 27,622 82,869 135,847 825,055 809,718
2020 k2
Borrowings B3 3.16% 32,674 30,173 90,523 173,043 326,413 283,655
Amounts due to ERTEE A THE
related parties - 697 - - - 697 697
Amount due to the ultimate  JEF REXRR
holding company INGIE - 188,839 = = = 188,839 188,839
Creditors and R FER
accrued expenses ERER - 118,942 - - - 118,942 118,942
341,152 30,173 90,523 173,043 634,891 592,133

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March,

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)
(a) Financial risk factors: (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could
be required to settle under the arrangement for the full
guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations
at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers
that it is more likely than not that no amount will be
payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate
is subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a
function of the likelihood that the financial receivables
held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer
credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments are subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the
Group’s borrowings from financial institution, other
loans, bank deposits, interest-bearing receivables from
loans and margin client receivables.

The majority of the borrowings bear interest at interest
rates with reference to the Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate (“HIBOR”) whereas loans to customers bear
interest at interest rates with reference to the prime rate.
As the prime rate in Hong Kong basically changes in
line with the HIBOR, the Group’s exposure to the risk of
changes in market interest rates is minimal.

= a

M OB O® KR KB

2021 RE-FB-—HF=A=+—HILFE

7. UWBEAREEEEREE(E)

A

(a) MBEBREZE: (&)

(i)

HEBEZEE (E)

L BREERERFARERY
FHRERBERARGARERE
ZHARAEN2HERESE
MRETE ERREHRNE
8 ARERSARBAEEGZ
A HEBEFEN AR K - B
= ZEARTHEFHREER
REEBA AR AJ BE ME(RK 7T 88
BT 05 A s AR B0 FR AR 75
ERXEERRNARIEER)
ik oAk

WFBHEERERENRAE
ELMERMEZR - A LB
ZEBNRTAZEBRRAME

= °

(iii) FIEmEE

AKEMERRERHEER
MIEHBE S - R ER - R/iT

H% - HAT A ERERRER
REREKHFEL -

ABDRITERNEL2BEER
TRERE ([BERTRER
Bl MERTEFHELRER
BEFE - AREREREEF
REANEEBFRITARFERK
-3 FAEEEHHHNEE
PRREM -

Annual Report 2021 AEH

121



122

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B B |, xRk M

For the year ended 31st March, 2021 & E “F -~ =H=+—H I4EE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)
(a) Financial risk factors: (Continued)
(iii) Interest rate risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before
tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings,
interest-bearing accounts receivables, loans and
advances) and the Group’s equity.

7. BHBE

(a)

REERRRBXE (&)

BHEBEE : (&)

(i) FIE B (E)

T#5IRA R ERBATRF (@
e E BRI« B LB
W BRRBRAYE) RA
ST AR AR SR
REM MR RRETR -

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease) in Increase/

(decrease) in profit before (decrease)

basis points taxation in equity

HERZ BRBE AR A 2 Bmz

(In HK$'000) (KB F T BElr) @/ Chd) & CRd) & R
2021 —E--F

Hong Kong dollars BT 50 3,542 3,058

Hong Kong dollars BT (50) (3,542) (3,058)
2020 —T-TF

Hong Kong dollars BT 50 4,538 4,014

Hong Kong dollars BT (50) (4,538) (4,014)

(iv) Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily
through transactions which gives rise to bank balances
and borrowings that are denominated in a foreign
currency, i.e. a currency other than functional currency
of the operations to which the transactions relate. The
currency giving rise to this risk is primarily United States
dollars (“US$”").

Since US$ are pegged to HK$, the Group considers
risk of movements in exchange rates between the HK$
and US$ to be insignificant. Accordingly, no sensitivity
analysis with respect to US$ is presented.

(b) Fair values:
Fair values of financial instruments carried at other than
fair value
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at amortised costs are approximate to their fair values
as at 315 March, 2021 and 2020.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )

(b)

(iv) SMEE

AEEAS 2 ERRARTREB
RGIAINE 2 MV RITHEER RN
B RSBRARBLNEER
BANEMER - BEUERAE
eMEBTEAXT (X)) -

AREEEET ([HT]) #e -
AEERERRETRETTER
REEARIE - AL RBH B
XTLGRMEDT 25 -

AREMRE:

UAREBEUINIRHIHETRLR

&

REEKATIRN AR B R HTAN

FHEE_ZT_—FK

— & — e —
—ZEEF=

A=Z+—BRMRIAEERAD-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PaN

,ﬁwi\

For the year ended 31st March,

REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 8.
(a) Revenue:

SEDHEHR

M OB O® KR KB

2021 RE-FB-—HF=A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
(In HK$'000) (BB F T B E L) —E-—F —ETF
Revenue within the scope of HKFRS 15 EBMHREEL FE 1558
(Note (i)): & B A 2 Weas (B EEG):
Commission and brokerage income from EAKL 2 A& R
securities broking rrEEelA 9,393 7,960
Commission and brokerage income from  EiE &L 2 H e Kk
futures broking rEmAeS A 599 554
Management and handling fees EREFEE 1,387 1,050
Commission for subscribing new shares XA < 17 95
Placement and underwriting commission F & kB #HEES 854 3,619
Investment management fee KEEHES 1,621 2,075
Advisory fee k= 205 -
Properties management fee MEERE = 34,590
Services fee in relation to precious metal BAHEESBZRGE 298 295
14,374 50,238
Revenue outside the scope of HKFRS 15: & /& B 75 3R &5 £ BI 55 1555
HE 2 Wz
Rental income HEW= 27,075 29,979
Interest income from i B WA TR
- margin clients -FREF 7,002 6,468
- money lending -EXmE 66,499 82,753
- financial institutions and others - BE B e I H h 2RR 4,271 5,393
104,847 124,593
119,221 174,831
Note: PH&E
(i) Revenue within the scope of (i) BB B HREERE1SHR
HKFRS 15: HEAN 2 W
Recognised at a point in time A 5 8 I ] B R R 14,374 50,238
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

8. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
(b) Operating segment information:
(i) Reportable operating segments

For management purposes, the Group is currently
organised into business units based on their products
and services and has seven reportable operating
segments namely broking, financing, corporate finance,
assets management, properties investment, precious
metal trading and investment holding.

Reportable operating segments are as follows:

Broking Securities brokerage and
futures brokerage

Financing Securities margin financing
and money lending

Corporate finance Corporate finance advisory,
placing and underwriting

Assets management Assets management for listed
and unlisted companies and
high net worth individuals

Properties investment  Property rental, management

and related business
Precious metal trading Precious metal trading
Investment holding Share investment

An analysis of segment information of the Group on
these reportable operating segments for the years
ended 31t March, 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

FE AEERBRBE
m M RB M EABEBSM A
BE2HEEDH  DRIRLL
B bEmE BEEER B
WERE EeBEERKREE
B o

EHEESHMT ¢

&sad BHREREE
&K

B 1% EFHEATERBMER
BX

rERE EMERERM -
fit & K B 88

BEER BEmkIELT
DRAIRBEE
FE 2 EEE
EEER

FHERE RHEHRE -E
B RIBHEER

E¢BEE EB<LEBET

++
i
JE)
=
>D\P
to
*nfu
@a@
Dm”
=t
i
o Hi

:2:—@& 2@5
== EﬁifZﬁﬁéﬂﬁﬁ
W

2021 2020
(In HK$'000) (LB FrBEN) —E-—F —E-%F
Segment revenue pana 6
Broking ”ag 11,379 9,564
Financing % 77,772 94,614
Corporate finance PERME 1,076 3,714
Assets management BEER 1,621 2,075
Properties investment BERE 27,075 64,569
Precious metal trading ESBEE 298 295
Investment holding BEER - =
119,221 174,831

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

Management monitors the results of the Group’s

operating segments separately for the purpose of

making decisions about resources allocation and

performance assessment. Segment performance is

evaluated based on reportable segment profit, which is

a measure of profit before tax.

8. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. WEREENHER (&
(Continued)
(b) Operating segment information: (Continued) (b) EEDPHEHR : (#)
(i) Reportable operating segments (Continued) (i) EHEEZZ(E)
2021 2020
(In HK$'000) (W BETFTEEZL) —E-—fF —T-TFE
Segment results DEEE
Broking &4 243 76
Financing B 7% 48,772 44,561
Corporate finance TEBE 1,043 3,669
Assets management EEEE 83 383
Properties investment EHERE 23,847 58,656
Precious metal trading ESEEE (611) (640)
Investment holding REZERK - e
73,377 106,705

Net decrease in fair value of BREMERREBELZ

investment properties FRE (40,900) (44,000)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and ~ HEWR - e KRk

equipment P E 2 0 A - 1,455
Other revenue H bz 2,386 819
Share of results of an associate L ERNR 2 %A 22,486 (2,706)
Profit before taxation R 3 A& A 57,349 62,273
Income tax expenses TS B A X (11,161) (15,872)
Profit for the year F A4 7 46,188 46,401

BEEEMNERAKEZRLE
NEZFE  MEHERDER
ERFHERS - D HRAREE
T 2% 8 M (ARR % A1 4t A1

i) 8Ff
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

8. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(b) Operating segment information: (Continued)

(i)

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )

Reportable operating segments (Continued)
An analysis of segment information of the Group on
these reportable operating segments for the years

(i) ERLELE(E)

HE-_ZT-_—FK-_FT—
A=Z+—BLLEE  AEEFHZ

pa=

ended 31t March, 2021 and 2020 is as follows: SR E[HEED D EBEE D
M
Segment Unallocated
assets/liabilities Interests in an associate  corporate assets/liabilities Consolidated

EE/8EAE REE0E2BE FhELREE /8B &8

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
(In HK$'000) (EETrAElL) —B--% C-2-%F CB--f C-2-%F CB--f -B-%E ZR--f CRC%E
Assets BE
Broking gy 376,539 144,632 - - - = 376,539 144,632
Financing ) 883,945 933,557 = - - - 883,945 933,557
Corporate finance PERE - - - - - - - -
Assets management BEER 1,123 1,065 - - - - 1,123 1,065
Properties investment FHERE 1,619,334 1710826 59,852 34029 = - 1679186 1744855
Precious metal trading REBEE 398,925 129,067 - - - - 398,925 129,267
Investment holding RARR 132,011 132,011 = - - - 132,011 132,011
Inter-segment elimination A EREH (10,747) (3,340) - - - - (10,747) (3,340)
Unallocated KPR - - - = 7,299 156,192 7,299 156,192
Consolidated A 3401130 3048018 59,852 34,029 7299 156192 3468281  3,238.239
Liabilities 8f
Broking ag 329,030 100,549 - = - = 329,030 100,549
Financing ) 13,286 8,124 - = - = 13,286 8,124
Corporate finance PERE - = - = - = - =
Assets management BEER 67 69 - - - - 67 69
Properties investment RHERE 189,949 205,933 = - - - 189,949 205,933
Precious metal trading ESEEE 11,924 6,391 - - - - 11,924 6,391
Investment holding REARR 7 73 - - - - 73 73
Inter-segment elimination B (10,747) (3,340) - - - = (10,747) (3,340)
Unallocated AAR = s = = 278,906 287,349 278,906 287,349
Consolidated g4 533562 31779 - - 1806 287349 812488 605,148




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

8. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. Wak=EBEDIER(F)
(Continued)
(b) Operating segment information: (Continued) (b) EEDPHER : (&)
(i) Reportable operating segments (Continued) () ZBEZEZZ(E)
Expected credit loss of
Capital expenditure Depreciation financial assets, net Finance cost
BBEE
EREX i RREEFERE HERA
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
(In HK$'000) (WEEFTAEN) —%--% C-%-%% ZB--% C-%-%f CZE--F CZE-%F ZE--F -TCoEf

Other segment information £ {15 B&#!

Broking &g - 64 61 119 - - - -
Financing il - - - - 13,176 31,770 - -
Corporate finance hERME - - - - - - - -
Assets management BEER 7 - 1 - - - - -
Properties investment FHERE - - 2 2 - - - -
Precious metal trading ESEEE 24 - 2 1 - - 145 149
Investment holding REARR - - - - - - - -
Inter-segment elimination B #HH - = - = - = - =
Unallocated AR 7 - 1 - - - 6,212 9,206
Consolidated S 38 64 87 14 13,176 31,770 6,357 9,355

Annual Report 2021 AEH 1 2 7
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

8. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. Wak=BrHER (&)
(Continued)
(b) Operating segment information: (Continued) (b) EEDPHER : ()
(ii) Geographical information (i) HEEH
The Group’s operations are principally located in Hong AEBEZEEFEURES R
Kong, Macau and the People’s Republic of China (the FRFEAREME ([PEAR
“PRC”). The Group’s administration is carried out in HAE ) - ARBEZTHARE
Hong Kong. FEHETT ©
The following table provides an analysis of the Group's TRREEAEE R TIZ 2
revenue from external customers by geographical BEEW DM RIEZEER
market and analysis of non-current assets by the Rz ERBEELIT(BS
geographical location in which assets are located REMBERHKIE - REREMK
other than trade and other receivables, deposits and 18 Hi B E MELEFRIERRIN) o

prepayments, other assets and deferred tax assets.

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets
RENBEE 2z kRBEE
2021 2020 2021 2020
(In HK$°000) (VEETFTREN) Z—B=-% _—T_TF ZBZ-§ _T_ITHF
Hong Kong BB 90,183 142,414 2,436 2,465
Macau SBPY 29,038 32,417 1,601,643 1,642,563
The PRC YNl - - 59,852 34,029
119,221 174,831 1,663,931 1,679,057

128 UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3 g 4 | 45 Bt & +])
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10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 8.

(Continued)

(b) Operating segment information: (Continued)
(iii) Information about major customers

The Group’s five largest customers accounted for

in aggregate approximately 32% (2020: 33%) of the

Group’s revenue.

The revenue from customers individually contributing
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the
respective reporting periods are as follow:

= a

For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£~ &

M OB O® KR KB

E=H=+—HIER

KWEREEDER (&)

(b) EELBER: (B)
(iii) TEEFEH
AEBRARFA£KEEE RS
#132% (_F=FF : 33%) °

RHEHA - BE-FP KA
EEAWE10%A LT :

2021 2020

(In HK$'000) (BB FrBEM) —E-—F —T-TF
Contributed from financing segment B 8% 5 56

Customer A A NA* 17,970

Customer B =FB 16,269 NA*

total revenue of the Group.

The corresponding revenue did not contribute 10% of the

* ARBEREGAEE SRS
10% A«

EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS, NET 9. HEKEEEHEZEEBIEZE
2021 2020
(In HK$'000) (BT T BEN) —E--&F T B
Expected credit loss recognised in RUTHRAZEREERE
respect of:
Trade and other receivables and deposits 8 5 & E B FIE Mg & 13,176 31,770
FINANCE COSTS 10. BLE KA
2021 2020
(In HK$'000) (LB T B E ) —E-—&F ZE-TF
Interest on bank borrowing and overdrafts, R{TEFRRBELZFI S
repayable on demand EERER 6,212 9,206
Interest on other borrowings, wholly HitERMER® - REEA
repayable within five years BHBE 145 149
6,357 9,355
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

11.

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging and

crediting the following:

1. BRBEADEF

BRBLRDE M S R RETATAIS R |

2021 2020

(In HK$'000) (LB BT T B E(7) —E-—F —TTF
Charging: B HIB
Auditors’ remuneration ZERI B &

- Current year - REE 752 737

— Underprovision in prior year -AFEERETR 45 -
Staff cost (including directors’ emolument) E IR (BFEEEHM)

— Salaries, bonus and other benefits -FE  BARAEMER 16,131 15,140

— Contributions to retirement schemes - RIRGHEI 2 R 453 455
Depreciation e 87 141
Expenses relating to short-term leases MHHEEREER 1,120 1,216
Crediting: EETPANE
Rental income from operating lease RERERSWARIL -

less outgoings: gross rental income: e WA REE : 27,075,000/ T

HK$27,075,000 (2020: HK$29,979,000) (ZZ T4 : 29,979,000/ 7T) 25,068 27,491

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 H 4 W A #)
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 12. ESREREEENS
REMUNERATION
(a) Directors’ emolument (@) EEM=
The remuneration of every director for the years ended 31 BEERBE_ T - —ER T -F
March, 2021 and 2020 are as follows: FZA=+—HBIEFEEZH &M
e
Basic
salaries,
housing
benefits, Discretionary
other bonuses
allowances and/or
and  Retirement performance-
benefits benefits related
Fees in kind contributions bonuses Total
ExHe
FERT BERA
HiREE R Ik R/5
(In HK$'000) (LEET T BEN) kA ENAlE R ByRA &t
For the year ended 31 March, 2021 HZ-Z=-%
ZA=t-HLEE
Non-executive directors: FHTEE
Mr. Ip Man Tin, David EERAE 50 - - - 50
Dr. Sze Ping Fat EmAET 50 - - - 50
Executive directors: BHTEE .
Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie BER/ME - 815 25 19 859
Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew BEfmtE - 259 13 19 291
Mr. Mok Kwai Hang BRfgE - 1,363 12 61 1,436
Independent non-executive directors: BV HEHTEE .
Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Alan REELE 50 - - - 50
Mr. Poon Kai Tik AREEE 50 - - - 50
Mr. Hui Man Ho, Ivan AR 50 - - - 50
250 2,437 50 99 2,836
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

12. ESRSREERMNE (&)

(a) Directors’ emolument (Continued) (@) EEM< (&)
Basic
salaries,
housing
benefits, Discretionary
other bonuses
allowances and/or
and Retirement  performance-
benefits benefits related
Fees inkind  contributions bonuses Total
£X55¢ -
BERT R
Hth 2B R RIK R/
(In HK$'000) (WA FTREN) ko BN & BN R B @t
For the year ended 31 March, 2020 HZ-Z-ZF
ZAZT-HLEE
Non-executive directors: HHTEE :
Mr. Ip Man Tin, David EBREE 50 - - - 50
Dr. Sze Ping Fat %S T 50 - - - 50
Executive directors: HIEE -
Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie BERE - 542 22 19 583
Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew BEfmLE - 256 13 19 288
Mr. Mok Kwai Hang RHELE = 1,470 = 61 1,531
Independent non-executive directors:  BUHHTEE -
Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Alan BRELE 50 - - - 50
Mr. Poon Kai Tik AR E 50 - - - 50
Mr. Hui Man Ho, lvan SR E 50 = - - 50
250 2,268 €5 99 2,652

During the years ended 31st March, 2021 and 2020, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss for office.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 4 45 R 2 #])
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) Details of emoluments of the five highest paid individuals
are:
For the year ended 31¢ March, 2021, two (2020: one) of the
five highest paid individuals was executive director of the
Company, whose emoluments are included in Note 12(a).

Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining
three (2020: four) highest paid employees who are neither a
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

12.

EEREAEEEMS (&)
(b) BEBSHFMALTZMEFE:

RZZE_—F=A=+—HLFE "
IR FTMATERME (2=
TFE: —Z)REARRNTES  FF
ZHeEEHERME12(a)

HH=%(CZ 24 OA)HEX
AREFNFTRAR  RHF ME
BZHMFROT :

2021 2020

(In HK$'000) (LB T L 551 7) —E--% ZE-TF

Basic salaries N 2,025 2,686

Retirement benefits contributions BRI F R 54 72
Discretionary bonuses and/or BB IEAT &/ SR B AT

performance-related bonuses 125 98

2,204 2,856

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

TERATESEFHFMENTEHEL
BEmEFMALTHOABDAT

2021 2020
—E-—% —TTF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 21,000,000/ 70 3 4

During the years ended 31t March, 2021 and 2020, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss for office.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The basic earnings per share is based on the Group’s profit
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$46,227,000 (2020: HK$47,738,000) and the number of
2,682,316,758 (2020: 2,682,316,758) ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

The basis earnings and diluted earnings per share are the same
as the Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares for both
years.

13.

HE-_Z-_—GR-_FT-_FTF=H
=t+—HLEFE AEEWRAES
B MATIAERME  (EAR
SIEEMBHMBAREE R 2 REK
ERBERFE -

BRER
FREXENDBEARRESR ARG
N & B F 4946,227,0008 T (Z 2 =
T 47,738,0008 L) R AFEE BT
T HIR2,682,316,758k (ZE -4 :
2682,316,758%) 5T & °

HR &L EEREYERS  SRES
RS REER TS -

Annual Report 2021 AEH

133



134

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= PAN
N [ ==

M B O® R M

For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSES AND DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

(a)

(b)

Income tax expenses in the consolidated income
statement represents:

14, IEHAXRELREEE

(a)

FENBERZABHRAXE !

2021 2020

(In HK$'000) (LB Fr B ) —E-—% —T-FTF
Hong Kong profits tax BEEH

— current year - AEE 10,513 17,189

— under provision in prior year - FEET RS 4 24

Deferred taxation — Note 14(d) ERERTE — KiE14(d) 394 (1,341)

10,911 15,872

Overseas tax paid B&EsM R 250 =

11,161 15,872

On 21t March, 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28" March, 2018
and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of the profits
of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%.

Macau Complementary Tax is calculated at 12% of the
assessable profit for the years ended 31 March, 2021 and
2020.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions in which the Group
operates is calculated on the estimated assessable profits for
the year at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )

(b)

R-ZE—N\F=ZA-+—H8 ' &EY
FERB(ZE—LEBB (B (F
79 GEIER) (TEAIER]) - 5 A
FEHME - GHAERR=ZZ—N\
FZAZ+N\BEZEEN TRZ
AREE®R BREFEGHMRE - &
EREEE L KIZ8.25%M B R 5tk
| &2,000,0008 T4 A B H >
£16.5%H Bt 2 3t #8 182,000,000
TR & A BAFLIE - TREFEHM
RHBERNEEERBN NG BER
16.5%8) & — B EHNFIIE o

HE_Z-_—FRK-_FE_TF=A
=T HLEFE  BFRERHEER
B m M A 12% R 51

ARBER A AR BT LY
BT A 2R R B BTV R AR
EIREREAZBEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= a

For the year ended

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSES AND DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 14,
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before taxation per the consolidated income statement

M OB O® KR KB

31st March, 2021 E B - —4E=H =+—H IL4EE

B RELREEE (&)

(c) AEEMBHAXTHRZAKERZ
R A R A E RO

as follows:
2021 2020
(In HK$°000) (LEEFTREN) —E--F e
Profit before taxation B AR 57,349 62,273
Tax at the applicable income tax rate of ~ KIBBEHREEERMER
respective tax jurisdictions FTiSHi & 3 12,236 11,910
Tax effect of net decrease REMEAABZFRE
in fair value of investment properties ORTE % 4,908 5,280
Tax effect of non-taxable income PRAB 2 W B 2 (10,078) (3,038)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TENGRZ AT NS E 2,845 7
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary ABEANEREEZENTKTE
differences 8 1,300
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERLBBEENOR G E 1,686 1,272
Utilisation of tax losses previously not R ERERTBER
recognised (416) (658)
Under provision in prior year INEEETREE 2 24
Tax reduction HIEER (30) (225)
Income tax expenses ikeeba 11,161 15,872
Deferred tax assets: (d ELEHREBEEE:
Provision
for expected
credit loss on
trade
receivables
g5 EWR
REHEHEE
(In HK$'000) (W BHEF T BEMm) BERE
At 15t April, 2019 RZE-NFEOA—H (1,251)
Deferred tax charged to profit or loss EXERIBHKRER (1,341)
At 315t March, 2020 and 1<t April, 2020 RZE_ZF=HA=1t—HK
—E-_TFMA—H (2,592)
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss EEREAF AR 394
At 31¢t March, 2021 R-ZEBE-_—-5=A=+—H (2,198)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unutilised
tax losses of approximately HK$69,284,000 (2020:
HK$68,805,000) available for offsetting against future taxable
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future taxable profits. The tax losses may

be carried forward indefinitely.

RI|BEBRKE  AEE B T H K 5H
AREBUABRF 2 ABAREE
18 4769,284,0008 L (Z T —FF :
68,805,000/ 7C) ° A BETE BI AR 5K
FEWGREL S A 2 18 - A ERERIE
ERBEE - BRI ERPEE -
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

15. PROPOSED FINAL DIVIDEND

15. BORARHRE

2021 2020

(In HK$°000) (BB F T B E7) —E-—-F —E-%F
Final dividend proposed of HK1.0 cent ?ﬁﬁ}ﬁ?‘ﬂiﬁﬂﬁﬁg SR BAR1 .07

(2020: HK1.0 cent) per ordinary share (ZEZZF - 1.080) 26,823 26,823

The amount of the proposed final dividend of HK1.0 cent per
ordinary share for the year ended 31t March, 2021 will be payable
in cash, subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Eﬂzi_g:*E A=T—HLFEEZZ
HABREREREBRI.0EMN - AN
IEiSEH AR BN 8T ZH&%@@K
SLRBRRAER  HAER

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. % - BRERRE

Leasehold  Furniture,
land and fixtures and Motor
buildings  equipment vehicles Total
HET#H KR #£E
(In HK$'000) Rt ) RETF I EL AE ok
Net carrying amount as at RZZE-NEMA—-AZ
15t April, 2019 RAFE 842 223 - 1,065
Additions NE - 64 - 64
Disposal & - - - -
Depreciation e (20) (121) = (141)
Net carrying amount as at I = i = 74
31% March, 2020 Eﬁmﬂﬁ 822 166 - 988
At 315 March, 2020 R-ZZ-_ZF=A=+-A
Cost XA 1,162 6,490 1,381 9,033
Accumulated depreciation REME (340) (6,324) (1,381) (8,045)
Net carrying amount REFE 822 166 = 988
Net carrying amount as at R-ZZ-ZFEMA-BZ
1¢t April, 2020 REFE 822 166 - 988
Additions nE - 38 - 38
Depreciation e (20) (67) - (87)
Net carrying amount as at R-ZB-—-5=A=+-HZ
31¢t March, 2021 REFE 802 137 - 939
At 31t March, 2021 R-ZB--5=R=1-H
Cost A 1,162 6,528 1,381 9,071
Accumulated depreciation ZENE (360) (6,391) (1,381) (8,132)
Net carrying amount FHFE 802 137 - 939
* The balance represents an amount less than HK$1,000. * AEERIEEEDN1,0008 THIE -

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Notes:

(i)  The leasehold land and buildings are situated in Macau and Hong
Kong. The Group is the registered owner of these property interests,
including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire these property interests. The leasehold land
components of these owned properties are presented separately only
if the payments made can be allocated reliably.

16. ¥I3% - W RFE (E)
Rt

() HELHWREFUREMREE - K&E
RZEEER (BEEBREL) W
MEE - BRN - FFEAKRBZEDE
g o BN S R FIRRES R 520 LA
BT ZEBAMENEE LA
DHAEBIT -

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. BREW*
2021 2020
(In HK$'000) (LB T L B8 ) —Z-—F —T-%F
Fair value: AN E :
At 15t April D 1,642,000 1,686,000
Net decrease in fair value recognised in ’&ftTEZ/WWE (40,900) (44,000)
the consolidated income statement ERERE W ERER
At 31t March R=A=+—8 1,601,100 1,642,000

The Group’s investment properties are situated in Macau and are
held under medium-term lease.

The Group leases out investment properties under operating
leases.

The Group has pledged certain of its investment properties with
an aggregate carrying value of approximately HK$1,394,100,000
(2020: HK$1,434,000,000) to a bank to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group.

A B2 48 B W 22 T PR P36 A TR A0
# -

ARBUREHELABIRENSE -
AKBEEHERETRENDET —HRTHE
ARASERERE-RBETREZERR

HERmEEL A1,394,100,0008 T (==
ZZ £ 1 1,434,000,000/8 ) o
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 & E “F -~ =H=+—H I4EE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(i)

(if)

17. REWE (&)

Fair value hierarchy (i) DABEER
The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s TREVAREFBIREEHEEENRE
investment properties measured at the end of the reporting HARBESSMBREERF13EN
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level SAEBEFEMRE N Z=A2AEBE
fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair Value EWMH o URABESEAERZK
Measurement. BWME -
Fair value measurement
DAREGERRER
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(In HK$'000) (U EETF T BEL) ARE £ BB E=E
Recurring fair value measurement £EMAREHN2
2021 “EC-F
Investment properties REME
- Commercial - Macau - EA-RM 1,394,100 - - 1,394,100
- Residential - Macau - B -1RM 207,000 - - 207,000
1,601,100 - - 1,601,100
2020 —ZT-TF
Investment properties REME
- Commercial - Macau - BR8N 1,434,000 = - 1,434,000
- Residential - Macau — fFE—RM 208,000 = = 208,000
1,642,000 - - 1,642,000
During the years ended 31% March, 2021 and 2020, there HE-_Z-_—FR-_ZT-_ZFTF=H
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers —t+—HALtEERN F—EHF_E
into or out of Level 3. The Group's policy is to recognise BT RBER  EAZTKERG
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy at the end of F_B o AEBEZHERNBREHRE
the reporting period in which they occur. BRANBESRHMEE 28
Valuation process (i) FHBRE

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31¢
March, 2021 and 31t March, 2020 have been arrived at
on the basis of a valuation carried out at that date by LCH
(Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited, independent qualified
professional valuers not connected with the Group.
Investment properties were valued on open market basis.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March,

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
(iii) Valuation methodologies
Investment properties valuation was determined using the
following approaches:

(a)

Income capitalisation approach

In the valuation, the market rentals of all lettable units
of the properties are assessed by reference to the
rentals achieved in the lettable units as well as other
lettings of similar properties in the neighbourhood.
The capitalisation rate adopted is made by reference
to the yield rates observed by the valuers for the
similar properties in the locality and adjusted based
on the valuers’ knowledge of the factors specific to the
respective properties. The most significant unobservable
inputs into this valuation approach are monthly market
rent and the capitalisation rate.

Residual approach

The residual approach is valued by referencing to
its development potential by deducting costs and
developer's profits from its estimated completed
development value. It relies upon a series of
assumptions made by the valuers which produce an
arithmetical calculation of the expected current sale
value as at the valuation date of the property being
developed or held for development or redevelopment. A
range of values may be attributable to the subject land
depending upon the assumption mode.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties,
the highest and best use of the properties is their current
use.

= a

M OB O® KR KB

2021 RE-FB-—HF=A=+—HILFE

17. REWE ()
(i) fHERE
REMEGERBUAT HEAREE

(a)

WAB KA

EfLER  MERARHBEEN
WmEHENE2Z R HBEM
DA R FE BT A AR Y S AR S
EREITIE - FIERAMER(L
LRTB2ZREEMABRIE
EHREUMEOREE - WER
HEMSHENEFERRNR
MmHAE - ERAGETEREKN
TABRARERE AMSHE
ERERHLE -

Repx

NRLZERBEMENERESN
W2 EHZRR G NEERRE
R ERARERBRNERE
{8 - BRERMGEREL— R
RRMEE N EAERIFES
RIEZZMERFHEERN
HEBE - RENBEAEER
BT m 8 — R IIRR
5o

PMEMEZ AR BER B
WEzRSREERGIREE
Al Fli
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
(iv) Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the

17. REME (&)
(iv) ATREREMEGHERFRBZGEES

key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: ERFERABBIME -
Significant Range
Valuation unobservable g E
techniques inputs 2021 2020
XD BEATAEHREABE —EZ-F —_T_FTF
Commercial properties  Income capitalisation approach
ELik/ES LN - Y 7
- shop Capitalisation rate 1.4-3.4% 1.5-2.5%
— A BER{p = 1.4-3.4% 1.5-2.5%
HK$9-90 per HK$32-49 per
Monthly rental square foot square foot
(HK$/square foot/month) and month and month
FHES BABYAR FABFFR
(B FHAR/A) 9-9078 1T 32-49% T
HK$5,335-45,178 HK$16,297-26,490
Adjusted market price per square foot per square foot
(HK$/square foot) and month and month
HEBETSER BABFAR BRABYAR
(8% /FHWR) 5,335-45178/8 T 16,297-26,49075 T
— carparking Capitalisation rate 1.8% 1.6-2.1%
— Bfy N e g 1.8% 1.6-2.1%
Monthly rental  HK$610-5,050 per HK$2,781-2,884 per
(HK$/unit/month) unit and month unit and month
FAMAS BRBEQ BABEN
(B% B4,/ R) 610-5,05078 7T 2,781-2,88475 T
Adjusted market price
(HK$'000/unit) 1,680-2,850 1,800-2,940
HEETSER
(BT Bhe) 1,680-2,850 1,800-2,940

Discount rate
IESES

Residential development Residual approach
EEER RgpE

Budgeted construction
cost to be incurred
(HK$/square foot)
AHERZEKAR
(B%/FHR)

Anticipated construction profit
RERENE

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )

5.25% per annum
F 7 2%5.25%

22,961
22,961

15% on cost
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15% on cost
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
(iv) Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the

key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: (Continueqd)

Capitalisation rate is the rate taking into account the
capitalisation of potential rental income, nature of the
property and prevailing market conditions. Market rent per
square foot is the market rent taking into account the direct
comparable market transactions to the related properties.

The fair value measurements are negatively correlated to the
capitalisation rate, while positively correlated to the market
rent per square foot.

Residual method of valuation which is commonly used in
valuing development sites by — establishing the market
value of the properties on an “as-if” completed basis with
appropriate deduction on land and construction costs,
professional fees, contingency, marketing and legal cost,
and interest payments to be incurred as well as anticipated
developer’s profits.

Relationships of unobservable inputs to fair value are as
follows:

. The higher capitalisation rate, the lower fair value;

e The higher monthly rental, the higher fair value;

e  The higher adjusted market price, the higher fair value;

e The higher budgeted construction cost to be incurred,

the lower fair value; and

e The higher anticipated construction profit, the higher fair
value.

17. RENE (&)
(iv) ATAREMEGHERFRAZGEES

ERTBBGARBZHE : (£)

BARCLEDFAREERSKAR
A MEMERERTREHZIL
Ko GFHRemGHE 5t KA
NELTHEAIREREBRSEHZ
mEHE

AFEFEEBENCLERRLL - M
BEFHRzMSEESKEL -

VB R A — R A R ERE
BX BERTIEMIRINED
mGEE  BEMRGELNRENK
A-EXER IREM EHERA
B A R M S TR K 3 R 7 TR AT
FIH o

7S] B AR o A\ B LN B A R 10
S ¢

o REANMBERERALSD -
REBE: &

>
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. B EE
Intangible assets represent the trading rights in the Stock EREERBIMREEHRERSMER
Exchange and the Hong Kong Futures Exchange Limited. REAIZRGHE -
2021 2020
(In HK$°000) (LB F T BE) —E-—-F —TEF
Cost at 15t April, and 31t March, net of REA—BR=A=+—HZKA
accumulated amortisation 2ET RN FE 2,040 2,040
Cost (gross carrying amount) KA (BREA&E) 3,400 3,400
Accumulated amortisation 2t EH (1,360) (1,360)
Net carrying amount RHEFE 2,040 2,040
19. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. REFE DA 2R
2021 2020
(In HK$'000) (BB T REN) —E-—-f —ZT_TF
Unlisted investment, at cost FELEMFE KA 73,691 73,691
Share of post-acquisition profits less losses JEAE U EE 1% 311 ET1E 14 % A (11,577) (34,063)
Exchange differences arising on translation BE&BINEEEL 2 [EH ZHE
of foreign operations (2,262) (5,599)
59,852 34,029
The Group’s interest in its associate which is unlisted, was as AREBRHEIEFTHE AR ZERAT -
follows:
Percentage of
effective interest
Particulars of Place of attributable Principal
Name of associate issued shares held incorporation to the Group activities
NG L BRCRIRAFE LT AR S 30 26 AEEBEREREL L FTEEK
Quan Zhou Meiyu Limited Registered capital The PRC 30%  Property investment
RMB60,000,000
SMNEREXBR TMERARE HEAREME 30% FHERE
60,000,000
The interest in an associate is held in trust by a director of the BENREEZAART —NESKRAE
Company on behalf of a subsidiary of the Group. B ATIAEIEARETE -

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )



19.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Summarised financial information of the material associate,
adjusted for any difference in accounting policies, and reconciled
to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements,

are disclosed below:

= a

For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£~ &

M OB O® KR KB

E=H=+—HIER

19. REE DT 2% (&)
BAZMELNR SHBRERZAR
FEMBHRRRAEAERORBNE
EEREMT :

Quan Zhou Meiyu Limited
REMNERBEXERAE

2021 2020

(In HK$'000) (LB T L5381 7) 2§ —T-TF
Summarised statement of financial BRARR R E

position
Current assets REEE 367,163 697,405
Non-current assets FERBEE 50,966 48,417
Current liabilities MEBE (218,622) (632,392)
Equity jE% 199,507 113,430
Summarised statement of 2HKRERHBE

comprehensive income
Revenue Wz 539,241 =
Profit/(loss) after tax BREBEF (BE) 74,952 (9,021)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hizmies/ (BE) 11,125 (8,433)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2EkE/ (BB #E 86,077 (17,454)
Dividend received from associate BENE S = =
Reconciled to the Group’s interest REBELBHEAT

in the associate i 2 $R
Net assets of the associate BENREEFE 199,507 113,430
Group’s effective interest REE B ER 30% 30%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate A% B E(FEE S A BB EFE 59,852 34,029
Carrying amount in the consolidated RAVKHmE KA

financial statements 59,852 34,029

Annual Report 2021 4E§#

143



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B B |, xRk M

For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 20. ESREMERRIE RERBARE
PREPAYMENTS
2021 2020
(In HK$'000) (LB TF T BEf]) —E-—-F —TFE
Amounts receivable arising from HEXH BH5RAERS

the ordinary course of business of
dealing in securities and options:

— Cash clients -HEEP 8,978 14,450
— The SEHK Options Clearing House - B ATEREEBR AR
Limited 2 2
~ Hong Kong Securities Clearing - BBHREFERA
Company Limited - 1,516
Amounts receivable arising from BEEB BEEARZEKFIR

the ordinary course of business of
dealing in futures contracts:

— Clearing house — RER 1,824 982
Amounts receivable arising from the HEXB  RUEBSFTERE

ordinary course of business of provision of  fEUFE :
securities margin financing:

- Clients (Note (i)) - BF (s ()) 163,026 132,135
Amounts receivable arising from H %%7}%2%1 %
the ordinary course of business RHEWFIA :
dealing in precious metal:
- Clients - %P 1,405 323
- CGSE - SREE 55 3 3
Interest-bearing receivables from loans i 7 718 e B 5K
(Note (ii)) (Bt &E(ii)) 871,635 954,821
Trade receivables E G 188 6
Other receivables H e U BR 51 132,624 153,919
1,179,685 1,258,157
Less: Allowance for expected credit loss on & © B 5B RA K
trade and loan receivables ERERNEREE
BEEE (205,272) (192,096)
974,413 1,066,061
Deposits e 640 634
Prepayments BIRIE 2,119 2,236
977,172 1,068,931
Portion classified as non-current assets DERIERDEERD (72,669) (122,105)
Portion classified as current assets DEARBEESD 904,503 946,826
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

Margin client receivables after expected credit loss of approximately
HK$90,023,000 (2020: HK$56,740,000) are repayable on
demand, bearing interest at market rate and secured by clients’
securities listed on the Stock Exchange with a total market value
of approximately HK$331,295,000 as at 31t March, 2021 (2020:
HK$211,552,000).

The Group considers a loan to be secured when there is collateral or
credit enhancement in place. The main types of collateral and credit
enhancement obtained includes share charges over unlisted and
listed equity securities, personal guarantees, assignment of rights
and charges over properties. As at 31t March, 2021, the carrying
amount of secured loans receivable after the ECL amounts to
approximately HK$739,366,000 (2020: HK$838,120,000). The Group
is entitled to sell or repledge collateral when there is default by the
borrowers. There has not been any significant changes in the quality
of the collateral held for secured loan receivables.

The interest rate of loan receivables ranged from approximately 4.5%
to 36% (2020: 4.5% to 36%).

20.

ESRHEMEKHKIE  ZERANNE

(&

o}

(i)

(i)

Ay

HRERGEEBRENTER P EYKER
4 590,023,000 T (Z T =T F :
56,740,000/ 7T) + JE 1R 2 3kt DA 35 7
R BER WHNZT - —F=A=1—
BH#MEA A331,2950008 L (ZE=-F
F 1 211,552,000/ 7T) A B R F R E R FT
ETRME SRR

AEBERREREFFEAERAYLEE
B BEERERER -FAR
TEHRARNEENGEREEELD
MEMBREZSFORMER  BAALR -
BNEENGELR - E_F=—F=A
=+—B BEREFEANIREDESES
= & B8 4 5739,366,0008 L (= F
— T4 : 838,120,000 7C) ° MERAE
HoAEBERLEIEMERERR -
EHRRKERBEENERRERTES

ARERERNHENF4.5% to 36% (=
T-TEF : 45% 10 36%)
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

W

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

The settlement terms of cash and securities margin financing
clients arising from the business of dealing in securities are two
days after trade date, and of trade receivable arising from the
business of dealing in futures contracts are one day after trade
date. No aging analysis is disclosed as in the opinion of the
executive directors of the Company, the aging analysis does not
give additional value in view of the nature of this business.

The movements in ECL on trade receivables during the year,
including both specific and collective loss components, are as

20.

ESRHEMEKKIE  BERANRE
(%)
REBFEBEXBRELNRE REST
RRETPERUGARR S AMAKER
REHERARSEGHEENE SRR
HERRXH A —RKEE - ARAHITE
ERR TURZRRTEREREDN
ARZERDTH L EGEE L T et
BIMEME -

RAFEEZRHEE  SRENFER
BRBEKS 2ESHIT

follows:
Lifetime ECL
Lifetime ECL credit-
not credit- impaired
12m ECL impaired (Note) Total
BHEE BHEE
+T=-EAPES BEELE BEFERE
(In HK$°000) (LB BT T B EN) FEER EERME (B =E) Bt
At 15t April, 2019 RZE—NFMA
—A 14,165 9,888 136,273 160,326
Recovery of debts on interest Y[l & F B 57 E
bearing margin financing HENES (468) = (3,417) (3,885)
Recovery of debts on interest Y@ fft 5 5 B fE W &
bearing loan receivables THER - (2,120) (42) (2,162)
Impairment loss on margin FRBETRERXK
financing 8,598 - - 8,598
Impairment loss on interest BT A F B E R
bearing loan receivables EREES = 9,893 19,326 29,219
At 315t March, 2020 and R-_E_ZTF=H
1t April, 2020 =+—Bk
—TTFM
H—H 22,295 17,661 152,140 192,096
Transfer to credit-impaired BEEERNE (3,827) (15,074) 18,901 =
Recovery of debts on interest Wt [E ¥t A 5l & F R
bearing margin financing BEMER (5,919) - - (5,919)
Recovery of debts on interest WA 7 & fE I &
bearing loan receivables TRER - (2,000) (22) (2,022)
Impairment loss on margin FREEFTREERLX
financing 3,527 - - 3,527
Impairment loss on interest B A A B R SRR
bearing loan receivables ERES 354 276 16,960 17,590
At 315t March, 2021 RZEZ—F=A
=+—H 16,430 863 187,979 205,272

Note: The credit impaired receivables related to customers that were in
the process of liquidation and/or management assessed that the
receivables are unlikely to be recovered.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

21.

PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Receivables that were past due related to a number of
independent customers and were reviewed by the directors with
ECL of approximately HK$205,272,000 made at 31 March, 2021
(2020: HK$192,096,000). Based on past experience, the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that no further ECL is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are considered fully
recoverable.

The Group has policy for allowance of ECL which is based
on the evaluation of collectability and ageing analysis of
accounts and on management’'s judgment, including the
current creditworthiness, collaterals and the past collection
history of each client.

The ageing analysis of trade and other receivables not impaired is
as follows:

20.

B REMEWRTE RERFENRIE
(&

ERHERRREFDZEBLIREE K55S
ERERRSEAN T —F=A=1—
B E i 78 81 {5 & /&5 18 49205,272,0007% 7T
(ZZE=-F 4 : 192,096,000/ T) ° R1EB
TR ARABEERE T FANBHZ
EEXBIEHEHEEEE RAEEE
HETESAE( MZEEXRNERE
AEgUkmE -

AEEREABEEHERBRERE IR
BRSENZHEREREZHE BEE
—RPROZEEEE HakBEURK
S o

B 5 4 FE UK B K30 R LA 2 BB 8 AT
nT -

2021 2020

(In HK$'000) (LB F T BEN) —E--F e

Neither past due nor impaired REERARE 716,103 709,701
Past due: 2385 :

Less than 1 month past due BEAE—EA 2,190 4,982

1 to 3 months past due BH—Z=={EA 4,458 8,093

3 months to 1 year past due BEA=EAZE—F 21,520 226,557

Over 1 year past due BEBR—F 230,142 116,728

258,310 356,360

974,413 1,066,061

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to
a large number of diversified customers for whom there was no
recent history of default or covered by collaterals pledged with the
Group.

REMERBENEYUABLERBRRS 2
SRURFARY  HRERIHEDT
SRR AAEANASE 2 BAmEE -

OTHER ASSETS 21. HEE
2021 2020
(In HK$'000) (BB T REN) —B--F —T_TF
Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company ~ &&FREHFR A A
Limited
— Guarantee fund deposit - RESHFER 100 100
— Admission fee - 2HE 100 100
Statutory deposit with the Stock Exchange ~ BRFTATE RS 200 200
Reserve fund contribution to BRTHEEEMBRAR
the Stock Exchange Options RS R
Clearing House Limited 1,500 1,500
Reserve fund contribution to the HKFE EANEHERRAAZRESHER
Clearing Corporation Limited 1,500 1,500
3,400 3,400
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

22. INVENTORIES 22. FE
2021 2020
(In HK$'000) R ) —E-—-F e
Precious metal, stated at BB SR HETE
net realisable value = 18
23. PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT 23. BEREME
2021 2020
(In HK$°000) (LB F T BE) —E-—-F —TFF
Properties held for development, at cost:  #H{EZERWE AR NG E
At 15t April and 315 March REA—BER=A=+—H 3,011 3,011
24. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 24, SRITEHBRKRES
2021 2020
(In HK$°000) (BB T T REN) —E-—F —TFF
Cash at banks RITHE
- General accounts - —RPFO 369,570 115,268
Cash in hand Re 10 3
Non-pledged short-term bank deposits with —#& A7 ARR R 3E A A
original maturity less than 3 months FE 2 AR B IR 1T K 121,938 271,663
Cash and cash equivalents RekREeEEEER 491,518 386,934
Cash at banks RITHA
— Trust accounts — 5EF B 313,217 81,813
— Segregated accounts - PHAEREFA 1,457 1,465
Pledged short-term bank deposits with —RABEBAKRRDRIEA
original maturity less than 3 months REE 2 BE ARG HRITIEH
(Note) (BzE) 10,000 10,000
816,192 480,212
Note: Pledged short-term bank deposits carried fixed interest rates at 1% s : EHEBAEHETEIR T -_—4F=H4
(2020: 1%) per annum as at 31 March, 2021 and pledged to banks =T BREEFNE1%: (ZE =
for securing general bank facilities granted to the Group. F 1) UIRBRTARAEFBRETY

—RRITRE -
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

25. BORROWINGS 25. fH
2021 2020
(In HK$'000) (LOBBF T BEN) —E-—-F —TFF
Borrowings in current portion: mENE D A
- Secured bank loan - interest-bearing — BEMRITER - BB 258,629 281,204
- Unsecured other loan - interest-bearing ~ — EEFEMER — M2 4,724 2451
263,353 283,655
The carrying amounts of the above
borrowings are repayable: A EEREREE
Within one year AR—FANE—E : 4,724 2,451
The carrying amounts of the above
borrowings that contain a repayable on
demand clause (shown under current A EERH R EE S R B AR
liabilities) but repayable: EENER GIRREAE) 8 :
Within one year ER—FANEE 23,961 21,451
Within a period of more than one year
but not exceeding two years BN —FABENBBMEANER 24,322 22,188
Within a period of more than two years
but not exceeding five years BRMENZETNEBEFAER 75,150 70,963
For period of more than five years BRAFREER 135,196 166,602
258,629 281,204
263,353 283,655

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as

AEBEERZERNE (FHEEREOF
R)ZBEMT :

follows:
2021 2020
—E--—F —T_EF
Effective interest rates B FE 2.31%-3.25% 3.16%-3.25%

Included in borrowings are the following amount denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the Group to which

fERBREAASENEERE AN 2 BHE
B2 THIE -

they relate:
2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-FF
US$'000 FET US$607 US$ 315

Note: As at 31t March 2021, the bank borrowing of approximately
HK$258,629,000 (2020: HK$281,204,000) was secured by the
Group’s investment properties with carrying amount of approximately
HK$1,394,100,000 (2020: HK$1,434,000,000) with related rental
proceeds (Note 17) and corporate guarantees provided by the
Company.

MaE - R-_ZT-_—-—F=ZA=Z=+—H %
258,629,000 L (Z T -ZT F :
281,204,000/ 7C) Z SRITEFTAREE 2
BB Y EH1,394,100,0008 T (ZF=F
F : 1,434,000,000% 7T) & AHEATE € FT 15
A7) MARR TR A EER
TEHEH o
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

26. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES 26. EEBALTRE
2021 2020
(In HK$'000) (LGB T T RE) —B-—F —T_TF
Amounts due to related parties FE - AR A T3R8
— Related companies — BERNT 264 697

Amounts due to related parties are unsecured, interest-free and
have no fixed terms of repayment.

ENBBALZHRARER RELE
Bl & o

27. AMOUNT DUE TO THE ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY 27. BNBRERLAME
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of DELAEER 2 RERTEENE-
repayment.
28. CREDITORS AND ACCRUED EXPENSES 28. ENRERENER
2021 2020
(In HK$°000) (LB F T BEW) —E--F —TFF
Amounts payable arising from the ordinary B #E#%2 &5 K HitE
course of business of dealing in securities X ZERFIE
and options:
— Cash clients - BeEFP 319,941 95,478
- HKSCC - BRPREE 1,265 -
Amounts payable arising from the ordinary B EEK 2 HEAHXZFEMNTR :
course of business of dealing in futures
contracts:
~ Clients - &P 3,279 2,446
Amounts payable arising from the ordinary B & £#% 2 IRIEEFHERE
course of business of provision of FERIFRIE
securities margin financing:
- Clients - 5P 3,317 1,476
Amounts payable arising from ordinary HEXB RUEESBEERMNTE
course of business of dealing in precious
metals 7,091 3,835
Accruals and other payables e & R R A ER I 5,068 10,103
Rental and other deposits received HERHEMBEUIES 5,778 5,604
Rental received in advance BkAe 233 175
345,972 119,117

The settlement term of cash client payables is two days after the
trade date. Other payables are repayable on demand. The age of
these balances is within 30 days.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 H 4 W A #)
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30.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE CAPITAL

29.

= & B B | & KM

For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£~ &

E=H=+—HIER

R

Number Nominal value
of ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
(In HK$'000) (LB Tt 381 7) EER2EE EBER2EE
Authorised: EIE
As at 1%t April, 2019, 315t March, 2020 RZE—-NFHA—AB -
and 31t March, 2021 at HK$0.01 each ZEZEE=HA=1+—HK
ZE=—fE= A== -
BRAE0.018T 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR
As at 15t April, 2019, 31t March, 2020 RZZE—-—NFEA—QH -
and 31t March, 2021 R TFE=H=+—H
kZE=-—F=A=+—H 2,682,316,758 26,824
OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 30. REBEESZH

The Group as lessee

The Group leases certain properties under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for a term of
one year (2020: one year), which is accounted as short-term lease
under the practical expedient permitted by HKFRS 16.

The Group had no future minimum lease payments in respect of
land and buildings under non-cancellable operating leases at the
end of the reporting period (2020: Nil).

The Group as lessor

The Group leases certain properties under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for terms
ranging from one to twenty (2020: one to twenty) years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future

SER/EBA
AEEREBRELBEZHERETYE -
ﬂ?{ﬁ%%;‘%ﬁ?fﬁ#&iﬁ9‘J%16?)ﬁﬁﬁﬁ§¢é’\]§
RREEGARHEE BEZNEEEF
Hﬂﬁ'ﬁ F(ZF_FF: —F) -

RBEHR  FEELER A HELE
HERTHLIHREEVORRZEEE
{#T}’\(—?—?ﬁz 43E)

SERBHEA
AREREEERETHEAETHR -
BEZNEREFUNT—E-1+F (=8
ZEFEDFF)

RBEEHR  AKERETATHELER

minimum lease rental receivables under non-cancellable operating ETNZARFZEEWHESIT -
leases as follows:
2021 2020
(In HK$'000) (LB F T BEN) —E-—-F I
Within one year —FR 23,697 26,750
More than one year but within two years BE—FRIRBMER 18,223 11,233
More than two years but within three years BB _FBIR=FR 12,235 5,894
More than three years but within four years BB =FBDRNFR 2,706 2,838
More than four years but within five years  #B@UFEDRAFR 2,169 2,510
More than five years BBRRE 33,544 35,698
92,574 84,923
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

31.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31.
During the year, the Group had the following transactions with its

related parties:

MERBEALRS
MAREE AR E B REBBA LRI
T2%5:

Name of related parties Nature of transactions Notes 2021 2020
BEALER REME B B CZEBCEF
(In HK$'000) (LB T T B #E )
UBA Investments Limited (“UBA”) Investment management fee (a) 1,621 2,075
RARERER AR ([FHARKRE] REERE
Performance fee (a) - -
=EME
Securities brokerage commission fee (b) 20 134
BHEERAE
Handling fee for dividend collection (c) 20 20
BREBKFEE
Margin financing interest (d) - 402
fFREEMNE
Storage fee for bullion (e) 6 6
E2ERRE
Town Bright Industries Limited Expenses relating to short-term lease (f) 676 676
REEXERAA RHHEER
Upbest Properties Company Limited Expenses relating to short-term lease (9) 84 84
ERMERRAA REHEER
Champion Assets Limited Expenses relating to short-term lease (h) 60 60
BEER AR REHEER
Loong Cheong Limited Expenses relating to short-term lease (i) 156 156

EEARLDA

EHHEER

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 H 4 W A #)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
During the year, the Group had the following transactions with its related

parties (continued)

Notes:

(a)

A subsidiary of the Company, Upbest Assets Management Limited
("UAML") as investment manager, and UBA Investments Limited
("UBA”) have entered into Investment Management Agreement
dated 25" January, 2019 (“Investment Management Agreement”)
and agreed that the investment management services provided by
UAML to UBA for a period of three years from 1%t April, 2019 to 31¢
March, 2022. Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement,
monthly investment management fee is payable by UBA in advance
and amounts to 1.5% per annum of the consolidated net asset value
of UBA (“Net Asset Value”) as at the immediately preceding valuation
date on the basis of the actual number of days in the relevant
calendar month over 365 days a year.

In addition to the investment management fee, provided that the Net
Asset Value as at the end of the relevant financial year exceeds the
higher (the “High Watermark”) of:

(i)  the Net Asset Value as at the financial year ended 315" March,
2019 (“Reference Year”); and

(i) the Net Asset Value as at the end of the most recent financial
year after the Reference Year and in which the performance fee
is paid.

UBA will pay UAML the performance fee for the relevant financial
year equal to 20% of the amount by which the Net Asset Value as at
the end of the relevant financial year exceeds the High Watermark.
The annual cap for the investment management fee and performance
fee for each of the financial years ending 31t March, 2020, 2021
and 2022 are HK$8,600,000, HK$9,100,000 and HK$9,600,000
respectively. It is expected that the total of investment management
fee and performance fee will be less than HK$10,000,000 per annum
and all the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
14.07 of the Listing Rules) in respect of the Investment Management
Agreement are less than 25%. Thus, transaction contemplated
under the New Investment Management Agreements is considered
to be a de-minimis transaction for the Company pursuant to Rule
14A.76 of the Listing Rules. There was no performance fee for the
financial years ended 31t March, 2021 and 2020. The investment
management income has been included under revenue.

31.

BENRBEBALRS (#)

RAERE  AEESHEABBATETN
T2X5: (£)

s

(a)

ARBZMBAREREBRARRAR ([F
BEE]  ARAECE HAPRERR
AR ([HABERE]D R=ZFE—hE—HA
“HHRBEITREAEERSE ((REEEH
&) YREREREENFARERE
ZREEERGAN=EH - NLEN
A—BEZZT-__F=A=+—H- -8B
REAEE G SAREEEREMMARR
BERASZNITEREEAZEEFE((BE
FENDISBZEFNEREREAER B
BRIAZFI65H C BEWNMEESE o

BRREEEBI  EREREMBFEL
MEEFENBBNATFE([SKE])

() MZE-NAF=ZA=+—HIEHRK
FE(2EFEDMEEFE: K

(iy 2EEFEEKO-EFINRRH
EZMBFERENEEFE -

HARESREEE B NEETKRE
EHXRBE#E  HERBERTBERE LR
BEFEBARKUISEN20% HEZ
T-TF ZE-—FRZTZZF=A
ST AEZENREEZ2FREERE
BERREMEFE LR H 748,600,000
# 7T ~ 9,100,000 7T %9,600,0007% JT ©
EHREAERERRBELEREED
710,000,000 T K B AR A E B =
ZHEBERAEILE (EER EMHRAE
14.0716) 91K R25% » Bt > RIF W R
AIZE14A. 7615 - IR E BB HHETE T
TRNRFEEBEARAFARERAERT
KENRG -HEZT-Z—FR-_FT=T
FZRA=+—RUEXREMNE - BREEE
BB BERREET -
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 #& £ —
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CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
During the year, the Group had the following transactions with its related

parties (continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(b)

On 25" January, 2019, Upbest Securities Company Limited (“USCL”)
and UBA and four of its subsidiaries have separately entered into
securities brokerage supplemental agreements for the transaction
in relation to the provision of securities brokerage services and
agreed that the original agreements were further extended for a
period of three years to 31t March, 2022. It is expected that the
annual brokerage commission will be less than HK$3,000,000 per
annum and all the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under
Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) are less than 5%. Thus, transactions
contemplated under the securities brokerage supplemental
agreements are considered to be a de-minims transaction for USCL
pursuant to Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules. Brokerage commission
fee income was charged at 0.25% (2020: 0.25%), the prevailing
market rate, on the value of the transactions.

Handling fee for dividend collection was charged at minimum of
HK$30 or 0.50% per transaction amount.

Upbest Investment Company Limited (“UICL”") with UBA and two of
it's subsidiaries have separately entered into financial assistance
supplemental agreements dated on 25" January, 2019 in relation to
the provision of securities margin financing services. According to
the financial assistance Supplemental Agreements, the respective
relevant original agreements were further extended for a period
of three years to 31t March, 2022. The agreements are subject
to renewal by written supplemental agreements between the
contracting parties. The securities margin financing services interest
rate was charged at 4.25% (2020: 4.25%) above prime rate per
annum inclusive of custodian fee; and the provision of Initial Public
Offering (“IPO”) financing at an interest rate ranged from 0.20%
to 1.50% (2020: 0.20% to 1.50%) per annum above the borrowing
costs of UICL. Interest income for the securities margin accounts
was charged at 9.5% (2020: 9.5%) per annum. No IPO financing
interest paid for the financial years ended 31t March, 2021 (2020:
HK$402,000).

Storage fee for precious metals trading was charged at US$2 (2020:
US$2) per day.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 H 4 W A #)

31.

BRERBEBALRS (F)

RAFE AEEEEAFEALETN
T2X5: (#)
BEEE : ()

(b)

—NE-A-+HR XEEBEHA
7@%% &%) EFRAKRE R E I

W% 2RI BB B R B R R IR
%W%%W%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ R R 245 IR A

BB A CERR=FE " __F=8
=t+—H-HASKBRMEEZSERA
0%%(_7_7¢ 0.25%) * ER LR

BRSER EHEFRLAEKAD
EéiB,OOO,OOO%m&PﬁﬁLﬁEm [
(EZE R ETMRANE14.0715) HIERE% -
Et - RiE ETRAE14A 7605 - HER
FBHEME  BEFBHFCLBRBEAEE
IZRGBERAETAREREKFNRS -

BEBUEEREKENELEIRFEE
0.50% 2 FEE -

—hE—A=-+HRB XBRER
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31.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
During the year, the Group had the following transactions with its related

parties (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(f)

Two subsidiaries of the Company have respectively entered into
tenancy agreements with Town Bright Industries Limited for one year,
commencing from 1t April, 2020. On 1t April, 2021, the tenancy
agreements were renewed for one year to 31%t March, 2022. (Note)

A subsidiary of the Company entered into a tenancy agreement
with Upbest Properties Company Limited for one year, commencing
from 1t April, 2020. On 1st April, 2021, the tenancy agreement was
renewed for one year to 31t March, 2022. (Note)

A subsidiary of the Company entered into a tenancy agreement with
Champion Assets Limited for one year, commencing from 1%t April,
2020. On 1%t April, 2021, the tenancy agreement was renewed for one
year to 31¢ March, 2022. (Note)

A subsidiary of the Company entered into a tenancy agreement with
Loong Cheong Limited for one year, commencing from 1%t April, 2020.
On 1t April, 2021, the tenancy agreement was renewed for one year
to 31t March, 2022. (Note)

Note:

As at 31t March, 2021, CCAA Group Limited (“CCAA”) holds
approximately 74.29% interest in Upbest Group Limited (“Upbest”).
Fung Fai Growth Limited (“Fung Fai”) holds approximately 26.74% of
UBA. The ultimate beneficial owner of CCAA and Fung Fai is Cheng's
Family Trust. Interested beneficiaries of the Cheng's Family Trust
include Mr. CHENG Kai Ming, Charles, Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie
(“Ms. Cheng”) and Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew (“Mr. Cheng”).
Ms. Cheng and Mr. Cheng are directors of Upbest. Mr. Cheng is also
a director of UBA. Moreover, UAML, the investment manager of UBA,
is regarded as a connected person of UBA under Rule 14A.08 of the
Listing Rules.

Mr. CHENG Kai Ming, Charles, the father of Ms. Cheng and
Mr. Cheng, has beneficial interests in Town Bright Industries Limited,
Upbest Properties Company Limited, Champion Assets Limited and
Loong Cheong Limited.

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year are disclosed in Note 12.

The above transactions were carried out in the normal course
of the Group’s business on terms mutually agreed between the
parties.

31.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£~ &

E=H=+—HIER

BERBBALIRS ()

RAFE AEBESEEBEE AT ETN

TZR5 (&)
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

32. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS 32. MBEREN
2021 2020

(In HK$'000) (LGB T T RE) B -F —T_TF
Guarantees given by the Company and its  ARARRENBARABIYE=H

subsidiaries to financial institutions in BT BHREERNIGEE

respect of facilities granted to

independent third parties 3,000 3,000
Guarantees given by the Company to KRR ABEMB ARG TS

financial institutions in respect of BREERIDEEE

facilities granted to subsidiaries 452,000 452,000

At the end of the reporting period, the directors do not consider it
is probable that a claim will be made against the Group under any
of the guarantees.

Of the above guarantees, the amount utilised by the subsidiaries

at 31 March, 2021 is approximately HK$258,629,000 (2020: HK$
281,204,000).

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (&t 4 H 4 W A #)

RBERRE EFITRAAEERER

EEEF

FiER ERZZZ

—f¥=A=+—H

I8 D B (E R 2 B 41 5258,629,00078
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | R W &

For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 33. KRRA T KB HARREK
2021 2020
(In HK$'000) (LB BET) —E-—-F —ToEF
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBERE
Property, plant and equipment ME - R REE 5 =
Interests in subsidiaries NN T 368,679 229,591
368,684 229,591
CURRENT ASSETS mEEE
Prepayments and other receivable TR R E A FEU IR - 89
Bank balances and cash RITERRIRE 2,185 153,137
2,185 153,226
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEBE
Accrued expenses ANE-GE 405 389
Provision for taxation e - 4,386
405 4,775
NET CURRENT ASSETS mENE E 1,780 148,451
NET ASSETS BEEFE 370,464 378,042
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BRR B
Share capital R 26,824 26,824
Reserves (Note) fEfE (FIsE) 316,817 324,395
Proposed dividend BRI E 26,823 26,823
370,464 378,042
The statement of financial position of the Company was approved AR BURARCEETER T ——
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25" June, FRAZTRBIERKEERE AT
2021 and are signed on its behalf by: BEERREE:
Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew Cheng Wai Ling, Annie
E1E M HER
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEE HITEE
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 33. RDBWHBMRK (&)

(Continued)
Note: reserves of the company s AR
Share Contributed Retained
premium surplus profits Total

(In HK$'000) (LB FrREMN) R EE BEfER REEF @t
As at 1%t April, 2019 RZZE-NFMA—H 300,959 8,515 8,022 317,496
Profit for the year F R 7l - - 33,722 33,722
Other comprehensive income for REEEM P E W

the year = = = =
Total comprehensive income for AEEEEBEBE

the year - - 33,722 33,722
Proposed final dividend (Note 15) R A B E (FTE15) - = (26,823) (26,823)
As at 31 March, 2020 and 1% April, RZEBE-ZE=A=+—8H

2020 RZZ_TFMA—H 300,959 8,515 14,921 324,395
Profit for the year ERE M - - 19,245 19,245
Other comprehensive income for AEEHM2E NS

the year - - - =
Total comprehensive income for AEEZENEER

the year - - 19,245 19,245
Proposed final dividend (Note 15) BORR AR 2 (fi515) - = (26,823) (26,823)
As at 315t March, 2021 R-T-_—%=fA=+—H 300,959 8,515 7,343 316,817

158 UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3 #t % M 4 W 2 5])



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

34. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 4. METHFELEEBEZHE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TRAMANEBRETHMELEABZE
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash B OERAERFREEDH BEFTHM
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for EXGBEERESRECHAKRBELRES
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified as RAEESRARERERANDBAEREE
cash flows from financing activities in the Group’s consolidated HELREZBE -

statement of cash flows.

Bank Dividend Interest
borrowing payable payable Total
(In HK$'000) (BB TFrREN) RITIE K FEAT % B FEFIE. s
At 1st April, 2019 RZE-NFW@A—A = = = =
Financing cash flows net FRHERERE 281,204 (53,646) (9,206) 218,352
Finance cost BE KA - - 9,206 9,206
Dividend approved BEHAERE - 53,646 - 53,646
At 31t March, 2020 and TS EREES B = =[5
15t April, 2020 MZ_E-ZFAH—H 281,204 - - 281,204
Financing cash flows net FRERERE (22,575) (26,823) (6,212) (55,610)
Finance cost BE KA - - 6,212 6,212
Dividend approved EHAER S - 26,823 = 26,823
At 315t March, 2021 R-ZZE-_—-5=A=+-—H 258,629 - - 258,629
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

35. SUBSIDIARIES 35. fIBAT

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March, 2021 are as RZE-_—E=HA=+—H  KAQARIEH

follows: ATHBAR :
Principal Issued and fully
Place of place of  Percentage of interest paid ordinary
Name of subsidiaries incorporation operation  attributable to the Group  Principal activities share capital
BRTR
WEBLAREE SMEIEY FTEEEMY SEERADL FEER BRLZERRA

2021 2020
e e s i
Upbest Financial Holdings Limited  British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Investment holding US$1
REEMRHES Bk REER 1%
Upbest Land Company Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Investment holding US$1
REEMRES Bk REER X7
Citybest Management Limited British Virgin Islands Macau 100% 100% Investment holding US$1
REEMRHES R REER 1%
Companhia De Desenvolvimento E Macau Macau 100% 100%  Property investment MOP25,000
Fomento Predial Si Wan Limitada
BEEXZRERAT P P BEHERE 25,0002 7
Gold-Face Finance Limited Hong Kong  Hong Kong 100% 100% Money lending HK$28,000,004
HRABERAT ik Bk BF®E 28,000,004
Good Foundation Company Limited Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Investment holding HK$10,000
REERAR 0 A REERR 10,000 7T
Good Profit Development Limited Samoa  Hong Kong 100% 100% Investment holding US$1
HEHNERBRAT EED A REER E
Great Luck Consultants Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Inactive US$50,000
REEMARAH RBERAREE B THEED 50,000% 7
King Standard International Limited British Virgin Islands Macau 100% 100% Property holding US$1
RELMRES R WERER E
Marco Tech Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Investment holding USs$2
RELMRES A REER 2ET
Mei Tou Real Estate Company Macau Macau 100% 100%  Property investment MOP25,000
Limited

FEEXERAA iy B EHERE 25,0002 7
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

35. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 35. MIBAT(#&)
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March, 2021 are as NZZE-_—EFE=A=+—H KXQREH
follows: (Continued) AR BT : (&)
Principal Issued and fully
Place of place of  Percentage of interest paid ordinary
Name of subsidiaries incorporation operation attributable to the Group  Principal activities share capital
ERTR
WEAREH AR FEEXLY EEBRESN TEXH  AREBREE
2021 2020
ZE--§ ZTC2RE
Mei Wo Company Limited Macau Macau 100% 100%  Property investment MOP25,000
ENERAF A 9 FHERE 25,0002
Perfect Result Investments Limited  British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Investment holding US$1
FERARRAT EBARRES & REER E
Profit Up Development Limited Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong 70% 70%  Project and property HK$10
management
BRERERAA &b &b BERMEER 1087
Upbest Assets Management Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong 100% 100%  Assets management HK$600,000
Limited
FREEERAT &k &R EEER 600,000
Upbest Bullion Company Limited Hong Kong  Hong Kong 100% 100% Precious metal dealing HK$11,000,000
FREXERAT &k e ESBEE  11,000,00087
Upbest Commodities Company Hong Kong  Hong Kong 100% 100% Futures dealing HK$10,000,000
Limited
FRASERAT A &k HEEE 10,000,000 T
Upbest Credit and Mortgage Hong Kong  Hong Kong 100% 100% Inactive HK$2
Limited
RREEREBERAT &k &b TRELD 28T
Upbest Cyber Trade Company Hong Kong  Hong Kong 100% 100% Inactive HK$2
Limited
FRETHERRAA &b B EREEY 2B
Upbest Hong Kong Land British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Investment holding US$1
Company Limited
EBABRES &b RERKR (E

Annual Report 2021 AEH

161



162

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &£ &~ —4E=H =+—H IL4E)E

35. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 35. MiEL 7 (&)
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 315 March, 2021 are as NRZEBE-Z—F=A=+—H A aEH
follows: (Continued) IATHBRR : (&)
Principal Issued and fully
Place of place of  Percentage of interest paid ordinary
Name of subsidiaries incorporation operation  attributable to the Group  Principal activities share capital
BRITR
WEAREH AMRBE TEEXBY EEBRESN IERB  AREERRE
2021 2020
e e s i
Upbest Investment Company Hong Kong  Hong Kong 100% 100% Securities margin HK$40,000,000
Limited financing
XEREARAT &A i FFARRME 40,000,000 T
Upbest Macau Land Company British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Investment holding US$1
Limited
FRRMERARAT ABABRES BB RERR [EYH
Upbest Online Securities Limited Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Inactive HK$5,000,000
FRELESARATA B B EREED 5,000,000
Upbest Strategic Company Limited Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Investment holding HK$5,002
FRRBARAA B B RERR 5,002/ 7T
Upbest Securities Company Limited Hong Kong  Hong Kong 100% 100% Securities dealing HK$10,000,000
and broking
XEEFARALT &k i EARHREL 10,000,005 T
Peals International Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Investment holding US$1
YHERERAT B &k RERKR 17T
Maiyon Investment Company Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Inactive HK$35,000
Limited
FEREARATA &t &k ERELD 35,000 1T
Peace Gain Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong 55% 55% Investment holding US$100
REBAARES &k RERR 100%7
Christian Faith Limited Hong Kong ~ Hong Kong 55% 55%  Property investment HK$1
&b &k FHERE 18T
Bible Workshop Limited Hong Kong  Hong Kong 55% 55% Inactive HK$1
&b BB IREEY 18T

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3% &t 4 W 4 B A )
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37.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31¢* March, 2021 are as

follows: (Continued)

= PaN
i [ = | E\ZI‘

¥ ow xR MO

For the year ended 31st March, 2021 &®E - F _—4E=H =+—H IL4EF

35. MDA (&)

ATHBRA : (#)

R=B=—FZA=+—H AAAKA

Principal Issued and fully
Place of place of  Percentage of interest paid ordinary
Name of subsidiaries incorporation operation  attributable to the Group  Principal activities share capital
ERTR
MEAFEHR AMALEYE FESRUE EERRADL IERB  AREERRE
2021 2020
ZE--§ ZTC2RE
Upbest Gold & Silver Trading Hong Kong  Hong Kong 100% 100% Precious metal dealing HK$10,000
Limited
XEEREHBRAA 3 i E¢BEE 10,0008 7T
Mega Benefit International Limited  British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong 100% 100% Inactive US$1
ERABRES &b IRELD 1%

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital outstanding at the
end of the reporting period or at any time during the year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event took place subsequent to the end of

the reporting period.

APPROVAL AND AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF THE 37:

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25" June, 2021.

RBEHRERFEAEMER - AR

BRRAHERFEZEREERN

36. MEHREE

HAMBHRRER T
AREZSAERKENE -

/=2
EHREMERBIBEREEMNEREMS -

BRI BERROMENRE

—® X A=-+1a
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SCHEDULE OF PROPERTIES

¥ % KM
(1) INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AS AT 31" MARCH, 2021 (1) RZEZ-—FE=ZB=1+—HzZREYE
Approximate Percentage of the
Description Usage gross floor area Status  Group’s interest
EE31 Rz BYEELEE R KEBFE
BREAL
(square feet)
(FER) %
(a) Macau Commercial 105,000 Rental 100
#H ki 78
51 Various car parking spaces and
the whole of the ground floor and
1st Floor of Chino Plaza, located
in Baia Sul Do Bairro Fai Chi Kei,
Lote PS2 Macau
IR F EFEPS2ER 2
EMES  BES AR -
WTER—E2E
(b) Macau Residential/ 11,492 Rental 100
B Commercial el
FE/ B
1 piece of land at
Nossa Senhora Do Camo,
Taipa, Macau with
a two-story restaurant
RRMKFRELR
i e
E-EMERRAEEEZEEY
(2) PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT AS 2 AZEBEZ-—F=ZfF=+-—HzEEZR
AT 31T MARCH, 2021 LY/
Percentage
of the Estimated
Approximate Group’s completion Stage of
Description Usage site area interest date development
ES=3 R BROBE X&E &t BREER
BER Frib s SR A
BOl
(square feet)
(F7R) %
(a) Hong Kong Government, 9,147 55 N/A Vacant land
& Institution or TER EELTH
Community
2 pieces of land at B RESHE
Tseung Kwan O
Declamation

District Number 248
MIBALAE BB ER248E K i
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'UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(R EEHEAFGRAFAE)

2nd Floor, Wah Kit Commercial Centre
300 Des Voeux Road Central

Hong Kong :

Fel852 2545 3298

Website: www.upbest.com

EREBEHETI00%
EEETL 218

E &G 852 2545 3298
44k www.upbest.com
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